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Insurance Issues: Engagement with Insurance Companies

Chairman: The minutes of the joint committee meeting on 1 December 2021 were agreed 
by the committee in private session.  Today’s meeting is our engagement with insurance com-
panies.  I welcome members and guests to the committee.  We are joined today by Mr. Kevin 
Thompson, CEO of the RSA Group; Mr. Trevor Lowry, chief underwriting officer, RSA Group; 
we also have Mr. Tomás O’Midheach, CEO, FBD Insurance; and Mr. Aidan Connaughton, 
general manager, AIG Ireland.

The format of the meeting is that Mr. Thompson, Mr. O’Midheach and Mr. Connaughton 
will make some brief opening statements and members will then raise the various questions 
they are interested in.  

I ask members and witnesses to be advised of the note on privilege, whereby full privilege is 
extended to members and those who are conducting the meeting from the precincts of Leinster 
House.  If they are on a call from outside Leinster House, they may have limited privilege.  I 
now invite Mr. Thompson to make his opening remarks. 

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I thank the Chair and members of the committee for the opportu-
nity to attend today.  I am joined by my colleague, Trevor Lowry, chief underwriting officer.  I 
would like to start by providing a brief overview of RSA and 123.ie.  As RSA has been selling 
insurance in Ireland since 1721, we have been marking our 300th anniversary this year.  We are 
a multichannel insurer selling insurance directly, through brokers, and through affinity partners.  
Our gross written premium was approximately €370 million in 2019.  We employ almost 600 
people across our offices in Dublin, Belfast and Galway.  This year we became part of Intact 
Financial Corporation, the largest provider of property and casualty insurance in Canada and a 
leading provider of speciality insurance in North America and Europe.  I note the committee’s 
invitation focuses on general insurance and business interruption cover arising from Covid-19.  
On business interruption, BI, we appreciate this issue has been of significant concern to sec-
tions of the business community, particularly small businesses impacted by Covid-19.  At the 
onset of the pandemic we implemented a range of customer supports including payment breaks 
and reduced exposures for our commercial customers, in addition to premium refunds for our 
personal motor customers.  We also established an enhanced process for assessing and respond-
ing to Covid-19 business interruption claims, given the impact of the pandemic on businesses.

Each business interruption claim we received had a loss adjustor appointed to establish the 
individual circumstances and merits of each claim.  At all times we have sought to provide clear 
communication to customers and brokers on our policy coverage.  While some of our com-
mercial policies have extensions which may cover BI losses arising from Covid-19, coverage 
only applies if certain criteria are met, and in the vast majority of claims this has not been the 
case.  A small number of declined cases have been referred to the Financial Services and Pen-
sions Ombudsman and these cases have been found in our favour.  In our statutory accounts we 
reserve €46 million for Covid business interruption losses and we have paid out approximately 
€13 million to date, including through interim payments.  We await the outcome of two court 
cases to help conclude these cases.  One relates to policy interpretation and the other will pro-
vide guidance on the assessment of quantum.  However we are maintaining our proactive en-
gagement with claimants or their representatives to ensure claims can be progressed as quickly 
as possible once the court processes conclude.  In addition, we are very mindful of the need to 
support a recovering economy and business is central to this.  In 2020 to 2021 we increased our 
number of commercial policies in force by 7%.  



15 December 2021

3

The second key issue for customers is insurers’ response to the new Judicial Council guide-
lines.  We appreciate members’ interest in this area, however, we are conscious of the require-
ments of competition law in this context.  I know many members of the committee have worked 
on insurance and claims cost reform for several years.  Like them, we welcome the revised 
guidelines and RSA has responded by passing on savings to customers.  It is important to note 
that we are still in the early days of the operation of the new guidelines with low settlement vol-
umes and reduced acceptance rates.    Insurance Ireland has estimated that its members settled 
approximately 1,100 claims following the introduction of the guidelines, which is estimated to 
be 10% of what would settle in a normal six-month period.  There are also several challenges to 
the guidelines to be determined.

However, I can assure the committee that on our motor pricing, we have passed on the ben-
efit of the reduced awards on price to date.  We keep this area under close review and we will 
monitor and respond to any further developments in the claims environment.

In this regard, I add our support for the proposed additional powers for the Personal Injuries 
Assessment Board, PIAB, as well as the proposals for changes to duty of care legislation as 
outlined in the action plan on insurance reform.  As highlighted by the national claims informa-
tion database, for claims below €100,000, which are the vast majority of claims, PIAB settles 
claims faster with broadly similar average compensation and with significantly reduced legal 
costs.  The implementation of these proposals, together with the Judicial Council guidelines, 
can lead to increased customer benefits and a less volatile insurance market.

I again thank the committee for the opportunity to present and we look forward to answering 
any questions members may have.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: I would like to take this opportunity to update the committee on 
insurance matters and developments from FBD’s experience since our last meeting in May.  I 
was appointed as FBD’s chief executive officer in January and I am joined here today by my 
colleague, Kate Tobin, FBD’s chief underwriting officer.  As Ireland’s only indigenous general 
insurer, FBD is the fourth largest general insurer in the country with a branch network of 34 
offices.

At FBD, we fully understand and appreciate the impact the Covid-19 pandemic has had and 
continues to have on our customers.  In 2020 and to date in 2021, FBD has provided approxi-
mately €18 million in rebates to our commercial and motor customers.  We continue to provide 
rebates to impacted commercial customers.

Regarding business interruption cover, FBD is working to ensure it can pay valid claims 
as quickly as possible.  To date we have processed €28 million in claims payments to 882 
customers.  This includes an interim payment offer to all customers and additional payments 
for the policyholders who have engaged with us.  FBD has 1,076 customers covered for busi-
ness interruption during the Covid pandemic.  Interim payments were offered to all customers, 
of which 759 accepted.  A total of 382 customers have engaged with us and accepted interim 
claims settlements.

There is an ongoing High Court hearing that will assist with the calculation of the final ele-
ments of claims.  Following this judgment, we are committed to finalising claims as quickly 
as possible.  We ask that members be cognisant of FBD’s case, which remains before the High 
Court.
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In addition, following the Financial Services and Pensions Ombudsman’s findings on busi-
ness interruption, we have applied the Central Bank’s Covid-19 and business interruption insur-
ance supervisory framework.  As a result of that, FBD has provided for €13 million in compen-
satory payments to all our impacted policyholders.

Prior to the publication of the personal injury guidelines, FBD committed to reflect claims 
savings in reduced customer premiums.  Upon the guidelines being published, FBD immedi-
ately applied a directly proportionate premium reduction.  Based on six months’ experience 
and following the PIAB report, we have introduced a further proportionate premium reduction.  
We are supportive of the Government’s insurance reform agenda to help reduce premiums for 
consumers, farmers and businesses.  The average premium for FBD private car customers has 
reduced by approximately 10% in 2021 and 25% since 2017.

We are currently adhering to the judicial guidelines in our claims process.  For claims which 
have not settled directly through PIAB, we await the outcome of court decisions and trust they 
will align with the introduced personal injury guidelines.

At FBD, we acknowledge the differential pricing report and are working to comply with the 
measures proposed.  We also continue to be very supportive of the Government’s insurance re-
form agenda including the newly established fraud co-ordination office in An Garda Síochána.  
We welcome any legislation including amendment of the Road Traffic Act and the establish-
ment of a motor third party liability database which will help to reduce the Motor Insurers Bu-
reau of Ireland, MIBI, levy and ultimately the cost of claims.

Regarding commercial insurance, FBD operates only in the Republic of Ireland and we 
have ambitions to grow our farm and business book.  We insure 11% of Ireland’s commercial 
market.  We are growing our commercial offering but must do this in a measured and sustain-
able way.  To date in 2021, we have grown business and commercial vehicle policies by 6%.

We are already the largest farm insurance provider in a sector which is deemed the most 
dangerous workplace in the country.  FBD provides insurance cover for many vital commu-
nity organisations including marts, men’s sheds and many local community events which are 
adjacent to the sectors where we operate.  We sponsor over 100 community-based events and 
organisations along with providing a wide range of education, research and development grants 
and projects for Irish agriculture and rural life generally.

We will endeavour to assist the committee as far as possible but as members will appreci-
ate, we are constrained in what we can say on sensitive competitive dynamics such as pricing, 
including potential price changes, and on our confidential commercial strategy.

We would like to thank the committee for the work it has done to bring about reform in the 
Irish insurance market and we look forward to engaging with members today.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Gabhaim buíochas leis na haíonna atá sásta labhairt linn.  I thank 
the guests for appearing before the committee today.  Many people had concerns over payments 
for personal injury claims and lost faith in the insurance industry as a result.  The introduction 
of the personal injury guidelines on 24 April significantly reduced the cost of claims.  As soon 
as the guidelines came into place the insurance industry warned that premiums would not fall 
immediately and I want to discuss that today.  Insurance is priced based on the expected cost of 
claims in the future.  What percentage of the insurance industry’s total cost is absorbed by gross 
claims incurred for personal injuries?
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Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Regarding the growth, we can discuss the national claims data-
base statistics for the proportion of claims absorbed by personal injuries but otherwise it would 
be confidential information for each individual company.  We have determined the proportion 
of personal injury claims we believe are affected by the changes to the personal injury guide-
lines.  We amended immediately on publication of the personal injury guidelines.  After six 
months, we have considered and further reduced in light of that experience.  Ours would be in 
concert with PIAB - roughly 40% reduction.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Would anybody else like to answer the question?  I would like 
to get specifics on it rather than talking around the question.

Chairman: When members put their questions, we would like both witnesses to respond.  I 
will then allow the flow of the meeting between the witness and the member.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We have seen a 45% to 46% reduction in general damages by PIAB.  
From our point of view, we regard that as 17% of the total loss cost.  When we move that along 
in terms of other technical prices, it works out as a 10% or 11% reduction on our technical price.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: That does not really answer it.  My question really is: if the 
claims under the category of awards have fallen by 40%, by how much can we expect the cost 
to have fallen?  What would that be in nominal terms and on a euro for euro basis?  We should 
expect premiums to have reduced by that amount solely as a result of the personal injury guide-
lines coming into effect.  What percentage have the average premiums across motor and public 
liability reduced by since 29 April?

Mr. Trevor Lowry: For both private motor and fleet we have reduced premiums by roughly 
10%, based on what we see in the context of an assessment of the new awards because the 
awards are heavily weighted towards the lower soft tissue and attritional end of claims.  They 
do not impact all claims directly and what we are seeing come through from the Personal In-
juries Assessment Board, PIAB, equates to that level of reduction in the cases we have seen, 
albeit a small number of cases.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: We have also reduced premiums by 10% this year.  A significant 
proportion of that relates to the personal injury guidelines.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Will the national information claims database be able to monitor 
or show if the savings the RSA Group, AIG and FBD make as a result of the personal injury 
guidelines have been passed on to their customers euro for euro?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: The database will identify the reduction but not the context of 
the reduction.  It will not show whether the reduction is down to the personal injury guidelines, 
market pressures or some other decision by an individual company but it will show the reduc-
tion.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I will move on to the RSA Group, AIG and FBD’s profits and 
Covid-19.  We saw that during the majority of 2020 the economy and society were under strin-
gent public health measures, there were fewer cars on the roads and businesses were closed.  
Traffic fell by 37% while the number of claims in motor insurance fell by 26% and the cost of 
claims per policy fell by 20%.  However, the average premium only fell by 7%.  The average 
rebate that the RSA Group, AIG and FBD gave to their customers was €17, only 3% of gross 
earned premiums before rebates.  Will the RSA Group, AIG and FBD disclose their profit mar-
gins in motor insurance for the years 2017, 2018, 2019 and 2020?
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Chairman: We will start with the RSA Group.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We look at it from a whole-portfolio point of view.  Looking at our 
statutory result for 2020, we made a loss of €13.4 million across our company.  We made a profit 
of €14.1 million the year before and in 2018 we made a profit of €8.1 million.  Those were our 
results on an aggregated basis.  When it is broken down per line of business, on a retained basis 
our motor insurance had a loss of €9.5 million and other lines such as-----

(Interruptions).

Mr. Kevin Thompson: -----had a loss of €3.6 million, property had a loss of €1.4 million 
and liability had a loss of-----

(Interruptions).

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: For 2020 we made overall underwriting losses as a company as a 
result of the business interruption.  We would have made profits as a result of the claims reduc-
tions in 2020 but I do not have the disaggregated figures for 2019 and 2018 on motor, farm or 
commercial insurance.  I can provide those figures to the Deputy subsequently.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I am quite happy to answer the question and I do not want to 
interrupt the flow of the Deputy’s questioning but I have not yet had the opportunity to read 
AIG’s opening statement.  Would the Chairman like to hear that statement before I answer the 
question?

Chairman: That is entirely my fault.  I ask Mr. Connaughton to give the opening statement 
now and then answer the question.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I am sorry again to interrupt the flow of the questioning.  I thank 
the committee for the invitation to discuss issues related to insurance in Ireland.  I would like 
to begin by acknowledging the role the committee has played, during both the current and the 
previous Dáil terms, in supporting the ongoing reform agenda that began five years ago with the 
establishment of the cost of insurance working group.  These collective efforts are delivering 
results.  One clear example of this has been the implementation of the personal injuries guide-
lines, approved by the Judicial Council in March and which came into effect in April.  When 
I appeared before the committee in May, I said we were hopeful that as the guidelines were 
implemented, award levels would begin to fall, leading to a reduction in overall claims costs.  
The evidence available to date indicates that the new guidelines are having a noticeable impact.  
Figures published by PIAB in October show the value of the average award made by PIAB has 
fallen by 40% year on year.  The Central Statistics Office, CSO, motor index shows that average 
motor premiums have also fallen and are now almost 20% lower than in 2018.

For the benefit of members in understanding the cover AIG provides and how we support 
businesses and consumers, I would like to provide a brief overview of our business in Ireland.  
AIG has been in operation here for more than 44 years.  American International Group Inc., 
AIG, is a leading global insurance organisation and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange.  
Our Irish business, which is run from our Dublin office, employs 160 people in general insur-
ance and we have more than half a million customers.  AIG has been the insurance partner for 
large and small companies, not-for-profit organisations, and individual consumers in Ireland 
since 1977.  We support the insurance needs of Irish-based companies expanding in the EU and 
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around the world as well as the insurance needs of US and other multinational businesses in 
Ireland.  Our business mix in Ireland is weighted towards larger, corporate customers and our 
principal products are financial lines, such as directors and officers insurance, liability and com-
mercial property insurance, with motor, travel and accident and health plans in the consumer 
space.

I know that business interruption insurance is a particular focus for the committee in today’s 
session.  AIG policies that include business interruption cover are typically property and com-
mercial policies where the business interruption results from physical damage to property.  This 
is the basis on which our property and commercial policies are priced and these would include 
cover, for example, from fire, explosion, machinery breakdown and natural catastrophe.  We 
have had a small number of business interruption claims related to Covid-19.  AIG’s priority for 
all our business customers is to support their efforts to return to pre-pandemic levels of activity 
by dealing with claims fairly and paying promptly where policies provide cover.

Following another year of considerable challenges and uncertainty in the face of the evolv-
ing pandemic, AIG remains focused on protecting the health and safety of our colleagues as 
well as continuing to serve clients, policyholders, business partners and other stakeholders.  
AIG has introduced a range of measures to support its customers throughout Covid-19.  We 
have also applied discounts for policy renewals where this is appropriate, reflecting, for ex-
ample, lower driving volumes while many people are working from home in accordance with 
the public health guidelines.

On the cost of insurance, the new personal injuries guidelines, as I have mentioned, are an 
important step towards achieving meaningful change in reducing Ireland’s high cost of claims.  
Enhancing and reforming the role of PIAB, as set out in the Government’s action plan for insur-
ance reform, is also welcome.  We support PIAB, we recognise its positive impact to date and 
we believe it should have more power.  Although average awards made by PIAB have fallen 
significantly since April, it is worth noting that there has been an increase in the rejection rate.  
This means more cases will be going to court and greater uncertainty will exist around the 
ultimate cost of claims.  It is our view that where an injury is not catastrophic and if the PIAB 
award is not accepted within three months there should be a binding arbitration either to agree 
that the award was fair or make a different award.  This would reduce the burden on the courts 
and eliminate unnecessary delays and legal fees, which inflate costs.  

This year has been a difficult one for many customers and businesses.  We do not underesti-
mate the challenges that lie ahead as we look to fully reopen our economy and society.  Against 
this backdrop, however, 2021 has also been a year of progress and reform which is delivering 
benefits to policyholders.  We look forward to working with the committee, the Government 
and all our stakeholders to continue this progress.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Connaughton.  Could he address the question asked by Deputy 
Mairéad Farrell?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Could I ask the Deputy if she might repeat the question?

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: It was about profit margins in motor insurance for the years 2017 
to 2020, inclusive.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: In the period from 2017 to 2020, where 100% would be break 
even, AIG has returned 105% combined ratio, which delivers a €5 loss for every €100 taken in 
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over that period.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I want to move on to dual pricing as we are moving along in this 
session.  Recommendation 1 of the cost of insurance working group was for insurers to set out 
reasons for large increases in premiums to consumers.  It was agreed between Insurance Ireland 
and the Department of Finance in 2017.  I note that none of the insurance companies’ websites 
gives price walking or dual pricing as a reason for customer premiums increasing.  Would the 
witnesses accept that they deliberately misled the Department of Finance and their customers 
by not including that?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: FBD offers introductory pricing and a discounted price for new 
business.  On the Deputy’s suggestion with regard to price walking and so on, we would return 
introductory offers to a normal price and would not walk past the normal price that we would 
deem to be appropriate for everybody.

Chairman: Would AIG like to comment on that?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We welcomed the Central Bank’s report.  It found that differen-
tial pricing as distinct from dual pricing can encourage competition and innovation and facili-
tate market access for some customers.  We do not have a dual pricing strategy.  We do not use 
price optimisation tools.  We do not model our book based on propensity to renew.  We comply 
with the Central Bank guidance.

Chairman: Would RSA like to respond?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: Similarly to FBD, we provide discounts for new business.  Ulti-
mately when it comes to renewal we bring the price of that policy to what we would expect to 
cover the risk premium.  We fully support what the Central Bank of Ireland is doing in respect 
of differential pricing.  We have engaged with it regularly on this and we look forward to imple-
mentation.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I will just ask a yes or no question on this.  Can each witness 
confirm if their organisation practises dual pricing or price walking?  Can they confirm if this 
involves identifying customers who are more likely to renew and charging them extra?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: I will ask Ms Tobin to take that.

Ms Kate Tobin: As Mr. O’Midheach has already outlined, FBD does offer introductory 
discounts as part of our normal commercial practices.  I suppose that can be considered as dual 
pricing.  In terms of the specific practice of price walking connected to introductory offers, 
we would look to bring a customer back to the base price in the portfolio but importantly not 
beyond that over a number of years.  That will be under review as we implement measures in 
response to the regulations.  There would be potentially an unwinding of discounts over a short 
number of years, those being related to new business.

On the Deputy’s question about the specific practice of using big data to determine who is 
more or less likely to renew and charging them more on that basis, it is not something FBD 
does.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I thank Ms Tobin.  I would just like a yes or no answer on that 
question really.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: No, we do not engage in a dual pricing strategy.  We do have 
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time-based discounts for new business.  For example, if the Deputy were to purchase a policy 
online there would be a 10% discount but that is based on the ability to deliver that at a more 
efficient rate.  We do not price based on propensity to renew.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I am grateful for that clarity.  My question is if the organisations 
charge renewing customers premiums that are higher than the technical premium.  I would like 
a yes or no answer from everybody.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I will continue as I have just answered that question briefly.  I 
can tell the Deputy that our average renewal premium is lower than our average new business 
premium.

Mr. Trevor Lowry: Yes, from an RSA perspective, both higher and lower than the technical 
premium.

Ms Kate Tobin: For FBD, both higher and lower than technical premium but not higher 
than the base premium.

Chairman: Is that okay, Deputy?

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Go raibh maith agat.

Chairman: Deputy MacSharry is next.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I am grateful to the regular committee members for allowing 
me to participate in this meeting.  My questions are about business interruption, the subject 
matter of today’s meeting.  However, I want to focus on AIG and Mr. Connaughton if I may.  
My question relates to the 2,200 GAA clubs in the country.  I thank AIG for its tremendous sup-
port of Cumann Lúthchleas Gael and the great Dublin team of recent years.  I am grateful to all 
insurance companies and brokers throughout the country that support Gaelic games.  Can Mr. 
Connaughton confirm that AIG provides cover to our 2,200 clubs?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: As I am sure the Deputy will appreciate, I cannot talk about in-
dividual cases.  I can say that we have property and commercial policies that typically provide 
business interruption cover where the business interruption results from physical damage to 
property.  That is the basis on which our property and commercial policies are priced.  Certain 
of those wordings will also provide further extensions for business interruption losses where 
there is an occurrence of disease on the insurance premises - not the wider outbreak - and where 
that outbreak of disease on the premises leads to the entity being closed either by Government 
or because of the disease outbreak itself.  I hope the Deputy can appreciate that I cannot answer 
the question in respect of a particular client.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I certainly would not want to be getting into individual clients 
or to be arguing the case as to whether a claim was eligible.  The reason I am raising this today 
and the reason I asked the Chairman to bring the insurance companies in is relevant to the 2,200 
clubs.  Some have come to me to ask these questions.  What they think they are insured for, and 
what the Cumann Lúthchleas Gael website says they are insured for, is other than what a master 
policy document held by senior GAA administrators would say.  I will ask in a way that Mr. 
Connaughton might be able to answer.  One would imagine that there are not too many GAA-
type clients among AIG’s 500,000 clients in Ireland.  Each GAA club is covered individually 
and individually able to make claims relevant to its policy, which is on the GAA’s website and 
is distributed to each club.  Would it be typical that a master copy or other copy be held by the 
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national body and would it differ?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: It is difficult for me to answer about a specific client.  The Dep-
uty is asking me specifically about the GAA, but I-----

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: This organisation has a high level of visibility.  It is difficult for 
2,200 clubs to get face time with AIG individually.  That is why they at times act through the 
likes of us in the Oireachtas.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: All of the policies for business interruption that AIG insures 
are transacted through the broker channel.  Each of the clients would have been advised on its 
specific policy coverage.  Where AIG insures those clients, we are conscious of the legal and 
regulatory obligations to our policyholders and we seek to treat them with honesty and fairly 
and professionally.  While I do not want to not answer the Deputy’s question, I am constrained 
by the fact that he is asking about a specific client.  Perhaps the best way for me to answer is to 
say-----

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I am only getting into detail that is available on the GAA’s 
website.  I want to cut to the chase with Mr. Connaughton.  The suggestion from some GAA 
clubs is that there is a clause in the policy with AIG whereby, subject to the courts, to AIG or ad-
judication on claims in the normal way - I am not coming down on one side or the other of that 
- each club could theoretically make a claim of up to €5 million for business interruption and 
that, while this is not reflected in the policy document that was provided to them, it is reflected 
in the master policy document that seems to be in the possession exclusively of senior CLG 
administrators.  Under the consumer protection code, it seems to me that, as Mr. Connaughton 
rightly claimed, the broker, Marsh Ireland, would advise clients.  My research indicates that no 
GAA club around the country has been advised that it may be eligible to make a claim.  Whether 
such a claim would be successful is a different matter, but that clubs have not been advised 
seems to be a breach of section 7.1 of the consumer protection code.  Would Mr. Connaughton 
be surprised to hear this?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: As the Deputy said, there is a broker involved with this client.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: No.  Mr. Connaughton said that the broker managed the client.  
I just followed on from that.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I understand.  I do not want to sound like I am being difficult or 
evading the question but we have a number of claims that are waiting for sufficient information 
to be provided to us to demonstrate that the cover specified in the policy has been triggered.  
In accordance with the terms of the policy, if there has been an occurrence of Covid-19 on the 
premises and restrictions were placed on the premises on the order or advice of a competent lo-
cal authority, there is the opportunity for the policyholder to submit a notification to the broker, 
who would in turn submit that notification to AIG, which would then adjudicate on the policy.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I know the process but if the policyholder does not know about 
this, it is unlikely to make a submission.  Is that not a reasonable deduction?

Would it be normal for AIG’s policies, and this one specifically, to include a clause prohibit-
ing a club from appointing a loss assessor?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I do not believe so but I am open to correction.  There might be 
specific wording in a specific policy, but I do not know.
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Deputy  Marc MacSharry: This policy does.  We are talking about 2,200 GAA clubs 
around the country and the policy’s wording seems to prohibit the appointing of loss assessors, 
which is a clear breach of section 7.1 of the consumer protection code.  Will Mr. Connaughton 
investigate this specific situation?  Is there a policy in existence with CLG telling it that clubs 
cannot appoint assessors?  In other words, AIG will insure clients but it will also tell them how 
much it will cost to fix their houses, cars or business interruption costs, which would seem to be 
sharp practice.  That is a personal view.

Regarding the Central Bank’s code of conduct and guidance around test cases and so on, 
it has come to my notice that, unlike others before us today, AIG is the only firm that has not 
agreed to the test case process.  Sticking to the GAA example, if St. Whoever’s from whatever 
county decided that it wanted to investigate whether it could make a claim of up to €5 million, 
would AIG be prepared to go the test case route as opposed to the arbitration route, which as 
Mr. Connaughton knows would cost a minimum of €100,000 per claim?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I cannot talk about a specific client but if-----

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: Let us speak hypothetically and make up a client.  Let us say 
that Marc MacSharry is insured by AIG.  I want to go the test case route.  Will AIG agree to do 
that?  I do not have the €100,000 to take the arbitration route.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: It is fair to say that the Deputy could present his case through 
his insurance broker and we would engage with the broker and all of the relevant parties and 
stakeholders.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: Is it the broker that decides, so?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: No, but the broker-----

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: Does the broker decide that AIG will go the test case route?  
Could Marsh Ireland decide for AIG, which is quoted on the Stock Exchange in New York, that 
Marsh Ireland is the designated authority and the claim will go the test case route?  I would say 
that the shareholders would have a view on that if it were really the case.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We are happy to engage with the broker on the specific client if 
a notification is made in respect of the policy.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I have a final question, although I will speak again later if time 
allows.  I have read the policy I referenced.  Not the master copy, though, because the GAA will 
not give it to the clubs.  It seems that AIG will not give it to individual clubs either.  There is 
nothing in the policy saying that clubs cannot claim and nothing to suggest anything other than 
each unit of the GAA is individually insured.  The clubs have not been individually advised 
of their right to claim.  I ask that AIG address this through Marsh Ireland and whomever the 
former deals with in the GAA.

AIG changed the cap applicable to this sort of claim to €5 million in November 2019.  This 
relates to business interruptions owing to diseases such as Covid and the like.  Unless AIG had 
a crystal ball, I wonder how it managed to guess so correctly when the first cases were just three 
weeks away.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We are in the business of risk and we examine risk on a regular 
basis.  That is as much as I can say in that regard.
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Deputy  Marc MacSharry: I thank Mr. Connaughton.

Chairman: If Mr. Connaughton has any further information to add, he can send it to the 
committee.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I thank the representatives of the insurance industry for ap-
pearing before us this afternoon.  The only issue I wish to raise is that of the impact that the 
personal injuries guidelines have had upon insurance premiums.  As I am sure the representa-
tives will be aware, the Oireachtas went through the considerable decision to enact legislation 
to give guidelines to the Judiciary under the Judicial Council Act 2019 for the purpose of reduc-
ing awards.  The reason we did it was primarily because we were informed by the witnesses’ 
organisations and others that if we could get awards reduced, this would have a consequential 
impact on premiums.

I will start by asking Mr. Thompson in respect of motor insurance in the first instance.  I be-
lieve he mentioned in his opening statement that there was a reduction and that has been passed 
on to the consumer.  Will he give me an indication of the percentage of reduction in premiums 
since the guidelines came in last March?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: As per the comments of my colleague, Mr. Lowry, there was a 10% 
reduction, which we passed on straight away.  We welcome the work that has been done and 
the new award levels.  We are sticking to the new award levels ourselves in terms of claims as-
sessment, but as per my opening statement, we are cautious because we know that a number of 
settlements are far less than what one would expect in a normal trading environment for claims.  
We know as well that there a few cases before the courts challenging the guidelines.  From the 
point of view of taking it on good faith that this will all roll through and the new low level of 
awards will stick, however, we have passed on those premium reductions.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Does Mr. Thompson envisage that there will be further reduc-
tions in premiums?  Obviously, the personal injuries guidelines have reduced awards by more 
than 10%.  I am not saying there should be an absolute correlation between a reduction in the 
awards and a reduction in the premium, but is it envisaged that the RSA Group will have greater 
reductions it will be able to pass on to the consumer?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I do not want to give a forward-looking statement around prices or 
what we will do.  What I will say, however, is that our commitment is there in that we will moni-
tor the claims environment and the impact the new guidelines have and reflect those changes 
in our pricing.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: If we find ourselves, say, a year from now and the guidelines 
have reduced awards down by 50%, would we not be confident in seeing a greater reduction in 
premiums than the 10% that has happened to date?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: Again, I agree with the sentiment but I do not want to give a for-
ward-looking statement.  We will monitor it.  We wholeheartedly support what is being done.  
We advocated for it as an industry.  The RSA Group is fully supportive of it.  I come back to my 
earlier comment in which I was responding to a question whereby we have seen a 40% reduc-
tion already, although be it from low value claims coming through from personal injuries board.  
We know that is 17% of our total loss cost, which equates to 10% of our technical price.  As 
those figures move, we will move in terms of what we see coming through.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Can I take it that from the point of view of this committee, Mr. 
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Thompson is not telling us we will not see further reductions than those of 10% that have taken 
place to date?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: No, I am saying we have applied our pricing based on good faith 
and based on the limited number of claims that have been assessed by PIAB and the limited 
number of claims that have come through, and they are limited compared with what we would 
see in a normal year, so we have to have a slight air of caution around this in terms of how we 
approach it from a pricing point of view.  Do not misread that for our lack of support in terms 
of monitoring.  If we see the benefits, then the customer will benefit.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will ask Mr. O’Midheach a similar question.  I believe he 
indicated that there has been a reduction of 10% since the guidelines came in.  Is that correct?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Our premiums have reduced by 10% this year.  A significant pro-
portion of that is associated with the personal injury guidelines.  We did undertake to monitor 
the impact of the guidelines and reflect them periodically as the impact is felt.  Upon the initial 
publishing of the guidelines, we moved in good faith.  The actual reductions we experienced 
on a very small population were above what we initially thought and we have moved again to 
bring that in line with the experience of that small population.  We have undertaken that.  As we 
see, the personal injury guidelines have an impact on claims.  We are committed to giving that 
reduction to our customers.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will again ask a similar question.  If it is the case that in a year 
from now we see that awards have been consistently reduced by, say, 40% or 50%, will we see 
a greater reduction in premiums than we have seen to date?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Yes, in my view.  I do not want to price guide, but we have under-
taken that if there are reductions, we will reduce in line with those reductions.  Without offering 
a price guidance, if those reductions occur in the future, then we would look to be in line.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: I will ask Mr. Connaughton the same question.  Has AIG Ire-
land reduced it by 10% as well?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Since April - between April and the end of October - we have 
reduced motor rates by 5.1% or just under 5.2%.  It is 5.16%, in fact.  We are seeing the same 
green shoots everybody is seeing from the personal injuries assessment and the judicial guide-
lines.  Our concern is very much around the rejection rate.  The rejection rate is roughly 70%, 
which is phenomenally high and will lead to significant uncertainty.  At a practical level, insur-
ers would typically have approximately 50% of their claims in litigation.  The litigated claims 
can take four to five years to get washed through the system, if you like.  Although we are see-
ing reductions of up to 40% with regard to the awards, the current Government reforms do not 
address any of the legal costs associated with claims.

Two things are happening there.  One is that we have a rejection rate that is very high, which 
will lead to uncertainty, more claims moving into the litigation process, and those claims taking 
longer to get sorted, which will delay any benefits that policyholders might hope to reap from 
the judicial guidelines change.  We are also seeing the impact in the courts now, through the 
District Court and Circuit Court, where we have significant backlogs of litigated claims.  To get 
a hearing now in the District Court could be as far away as 18 months at this time.

While we are seeing the green shoots and while we have started on the journey to reducing 
premiums, there is a level of uncertainty going forward.  We perhaps need a little bit more cer-
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tainty as an industry in terms of the judicial guidelines being stuck to.  There are even a couple 
of, or even five or six, High Court challenges being taken against the judicial guidelines as they 
stand today.  There is, therefore, a little bit of uncertainty but we have started on the road to 
reducing premiums.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: That will cause some concern to people in the political world.  
I am not saying Mr. Connaughton gave this assurance but the political world was given an as-
surance that if personal injuries guidelines were introduced and imposed, there would be an 
immediate change in premiums.  I am slightly concerned that Mr. Connaughton is saying there 
are other imponderables and factors that must be taken into account before we can commit to a 
full reduction in premiums.  Does Mr. Connaughton want to respond to that?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We must be cautious with the level of uncertainty that is there.  
Back in 2004, when we had a significant breakthrough, we saw a number of years in which in-
surers responded very positively to the reduction in claims costs.  Over time, however, matters 
crept back to levels that were there prior to 2004.

We have just implemented a significant catalyst for change in the judicial guidelines, but we 
are now beginning to see a little bit of pushback from certain parties with regard to the imple-
mentation and execution of that.  As an insurer, we are accepting 100% of the assessments from 
the Personal Injuries Assessment Board but we are seeing from plaintiffs or claimants a 70% 
rejection rate.  There is, therefore, an inevitable concern around taking rates down too rapidly.  
We have responded based on the positive shoots seen to date.  AIG has reduced motor rates by 
5.1% since the implementation of the judicial guidelines in April.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: Is there any reason AIG appears to be more cautious - that is a 
more complimentary way of putting it; one could say not as generous - in passing on the 10% 
their colleagues have passed on?  Why has AIG not done likewise?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We have done a lot of work.  The NCID report shows the aver-
age premium from 2017 to 2020 decreased in the industry by 10%.  AIG in that period reduced 
its rates by 16%.  We gave customers a 4% discount for reduced driving through Covid in 2020 
and repeated that 4% discount, which is currently being applied to policies falling due up to 
the end of April 2022.  We have taken significant action.  Whether it is at the same level, a little 
behind or a little ahead of other players in the industry, that is a matter of timing rather than 
anything else.

Deputy  Jim O’Callaghan: The Oireachtas-enacted Judicial Council Act gave powers to 
the Judicial Council to bring in guidelines.  It has resulted in a reduction implemented by the 
courts.  I expect to see premiums come down significantly as a result of those new personal 
injury guidelines.  We are only nine months out from the introduction of the guidelines but I 
want to see on behalf of the consumer a greater reduction in premiums from the representatives 
before us.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I welcome the witnesses. In relation to the slower than ex-
pected reduction in motor insurance premiums, will they give a single issue that might be a 
contributory factor?  Is it because the new regulations, anticipatory or otherwise, are feared?  Is 
it that they do not work as well as they should, that they do not apply in relation to motor ac-
cidents or that they apply less in relation to motor accidents?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We support and welcome everything that has been done but we are 



15 December 2021

15

cautious.  We have taken what we have seen on good faith from a small sample of claims at the 
lower end of value which have been assessed by PIAB and one or two court decisions.  We have 
looked to pass on the benefit to customers.  Our area of caution is around how these cases will 
ultimately be contested in the courts.  There are one or two cases before the courts contesting 
the guidelines.  We have to watch the rejection rate, and that rate has increased.  We are open-
minded from an RSA perspective.  We monitor it with an open mind and will adjust quickly as 
things develop.  If they develop in a positive way, we will act in a positive way.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Similarly, we applied the reduction in advance.  Immediately on 
publishing and without any experience, we applied it.  We reviewed it and applied an increased 
reduction based on the experiences of what had occurred.  I do not believe the reductions are 
slower than expected.  They are given in line with the publishing of the guidelines, effectively 
in advance of any experience and upon a six-month review of the experience.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We have responded positively.  I will give an example.  We 
had just under 700 claims settled in AIG between April and November 2021.  Of those claims, 
only 86 went through the Personal Injuries Assessment Board settlement process.  Of those 86 
claims, we have a 70% rejection rate on motor claims and about a 40% rejection rate on liability 
claims.  There is a concern about the elevated level of rejection.

The other item to address is that we have circa 50% of the claims in litigation.  Evidenced by 
that, it will take longer for those claims to wash through and for us to see the deeper results of 
the reduced awards from the judicial guidelines.  According to the last NCID report, the average 
claim settlement in PIAB is about €24,000 while in litigation it is about €24,000 in those lower 
level claims.  However, the legal costs associated with PIAB are €800 while those associated 
with litigation are 20 times higher.

As I mentioned in my opening statement, it is important that if the award is rejected in 
PIAB, within three months we move to a binding arbitration within PIAB to identify whether 
that was a fair award or change it and bring the settlement through much quicker.  Expediting 
the settlement and giving more powers to PIAB would be an even more positive step than what 
is there today.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: What has the witnesses’ experience been in relation to the 
speedy settlement of claims since the new regulations came into being?  Has there been a reluc-
tance among parties to settle?  If so, what is the main thrust of that reluctance?  Has there been 
readiness to settle speedily?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: The sample we have is limited but PIAB reported, and our report 
is broadly in line with PIAB, that the acceptance rate from the claimant has declined from 50% 
to 40%.  They have chosen to go on into some form of litigation or pre-litigation settlement.  It 
indicates claimants are somewhat more reluctant, which other parties referred to in their state-
ments.  There is an element of reluctance that causes us some caution.  Claimants, by virtue of 
their decline from 50% acceptance to 40%, are at this point somewhat cautious.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: It is a similar answer to Mr. O’Midheach.  We are seeing a 
higher rejection rate.  That means plaintiffs or claimants are refusing to accept the award.  One 
can only assume they take the view the award is too low.  There are five or six High Court chal-
lenges now.  I read one in, I think, The Irish Times on Thursday or Friday where a lady received 
an award of €3,000 for an injury and felt that under the book of quantum the award would be 
between €8,000 and €16,000.  If that level of uncertainty exists, we need to see those cases 
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come through the High Court and be adjudicated on.

That is one area and the second is that throughout Covid-19 we have had lockdowns and 
courts are closed.  We have backlogs now in the courts.  Where a typical claim may be settled 
in PIAB with the acceptance of an award within a year, a litigated claim can go to four or five 
years.  We are seeing a lengthening of the litigation process, I am afraid to report, rather than a 
shrinking of it.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In the case of motor accidents in which there are only two 
protagonists and no witnesses, what methodology is used to encourage an early settlement, if 
any?  In respect of business interruption, can the witnesses indicate whether they have offered 
business interruption coverage to funds, banks or other lending institutions in the course of the 
past ten, 12 or 14 years?

Chairman: I ask for short answers in that regard.  We will start with the RSA.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: In answer to the second question, from memory, no.  In regard to 
two persons and early settlement, we always try to settle claims as quickly and as fairly as pos-
sible.  We also notify each claimant of the route by which they can access the Personal Injuries 
Assessment Board.  We try to make it as speedy as we can, while being fair.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: To answer the question on funds, the answer is “No”.  I do not 
believe we have offered that.  On the first question, the answer is similar to Mr. Thompson’s in 
that we would ask that they do the process as speedily as possible.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: What about banks?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: The answer to the question on business interruption for banks is 
“No”.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We obviously provide business interruption insurance to a num-
ber of corporate clients.  In regard to funds, though, not to my knowledge.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: And banks?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: In regard to bank funds, is the Deputy talking about investments?

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Yes.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Not to my knowledge.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I am referring to any business done by banks that might 
have an interruption which might come under business interruption coverage.  Has that been 
provided?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: If we insure a bank for physical damage to the building and 
if there is business interruption cover applicable to the bank’s property policy, then business 
interruption would apply.  I think the Deputy was asking more to do with the funds and the 
investment of the funds rather than the physical damage to the property.  In the event there was 
physical damage to the property which caused the property or the bank to close as a result of 
whatever might happen, such as an explosion or a fire, there would be business interruption 
cover available and subject to the triggering of the wording.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In the past, some banks or lending institutions sought cover 
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for investments that were deemed to be sailing close to the wind, for want of a better descrip-
tion.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: My answer to that is “No”, or not to my knowledge.  In regard 
to the settlement of claims, we would work to try to settle claims at the earliest possible op-
portunity and as fairly as possible.  The option is always given to customers and we ensure they 
fully understand the claims process that they can follow.

Deputy  Steven Matthews: I thank the witnesses for their attendance today.  I have two 
fairly straightforward and simple questions to put to the three companies.  Would they support 
a 30 km/h speed limit in urban areas and towns and on residential roads in order to reduce the 
risk of fatalities by being struck at a speed above 30 km/h?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We would certainly support anything that will result in improv-
ing the behaviour of drivers on the road, including speed limits.  As the Deputy may be aware, 
we have a telematics product currently in place providing coverage and driving behaviour sta-
tistics to us in regard to young drivers in particular, and we entered the young driver market 
with that technology.  The sole aim of that technology is to give us additional protections.  
Therefore, we do have a product, we have shared that product with the Road Safety Author-
ity and we believe that product provides very significant benefits to young drivers in terms of 
improving their driving behaviour.  Overall, I would tend to agree with the Deputy that speed 
is a very significant factor on Irish roads, as is mobile phone use and a number of other things 
which, anecdotally, we would say are a concern, although it may be a bit more difficult to prove 
that on the ground.

Deputy  Steven Matthews: I might expand the question a little.

Chairman: The Deputy asked the question of the three companies.  We have got one an-
swer and we want to go to FBD and RSA.  Is that correct?

Deputy  Steven Matthews: Yes, but I might just to add to the question that the likelihood of 
a fatality at 50 km/h is about five out of ten people and when it goes to 60 km/h, it is about nine 
out of ten people.  At 30 km/h, there is a 90% chance that there will not be a fatality, although 
there will be other injuries.  I ask the question in that context.  The prevalence of SUVs, cross-
overs and high-fronted vehicles also increases that risk.  The question still stands.  Would the 
companies support a 30 km/h speed limit in towns and villages and on residential roads?  Do 
they recognise the increased risk from high-fronted vehicles in regard to fatalities?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: We would support all safety measures and support whatever the 
relevant authorities deem to be the appropriate speed limit for a given situation.  In terms of the 
statistics the Deputy quotes on fatalities at 50 km/h and 30 km/h, I would not dispute them and 
I would accept them.  We would fully support any safety measures that the relevant authorities 
are keen on.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: The RSA would support any recommendation by the appropriate 
authority to make our roads safer.  We would fully support that.

Deputy  Steven Matthews: I thank the witnesses.  It is something we wish to pursue.  My 
second question is also quite simple.  It comes directly from a constituent who was shopping 
around for new home insurance and was told that a tree in his garden would be grounds for 
refusal of insurance.  Do the three companies have any requirement on people taking out home 
insurance or looking to renew home insurance if they have trees in their garden?  Do they con-
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sider trees of a certain height or age in gardens to be a risk?  Do they place any requirement on 
landowners to remove trees to reduce any risk they might perceive?

Mr. Trevor Lowry: No, we have no requirements around property owners on that.  We just 
require that property owners maintain their property, and that would include trees in the garden 
and ensuring they are trimmed and kept safe, and so on.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Given the specific nature of the question, I will ask the chief 
underwriting officer to answer that one.

Ms Kate Tobin: Similar to the RSA, we have general conditions around maintenance of the 
property but not specifically relating to the scenario the Deputy was talking about.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Similar to the other two insurers, we have no specific exclusions 
in regard to customers who have trees in their private gardens.

Deputy  Steven Matthews: I will be happy to refer this constituent to one of the three 
insurance companies and they can shop around for their new residential insurance from those 
companies without any fear of penalty for having trees in the garden.  I thank the witnesses.

Chairman: I call Deputy Rose Conway-Walsh.  We are running against time.

Deputy  Rose Conway-Walsh: In that case, I will be brief.  I want to ask the three compa-
nies about their policies in regard to providing mortgage protection for people who have suf-
fered from an eating disorder.  They may know that a woman recently contacted me in regard to 
mortgage protection life insurance.  Despite having a healthy weight for the last five years and 
no longer receiving any medical treatment, she was denied mortgage protection.  I also know of 
cases where if people are receiving counselling, that is used to either refuse them mortgage pro-
tection insurance or to charge them extortionate premiums.  I ask each of the organisations to 
comment and outline the measures that are in place to ensure that people with eating disorders 
or who have had eating disorders in the past are not discriminated against.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We are a general insurer so we do not provide that cover.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: We are the same.  As a general insurer, we do not provide that 
cover.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Yes, it is the same response as my other two colleagues.  We are 
a general insurance company so do not provide that cover.

Deputy  Rose Conway-Walsh: None of the insurance companies provides the cover.  Do 
the witnesses have any comment to make on the matter in terms of the insurance industry?

Chairman: Does the Deputy mean relative to no cover being available?

Deputy  Rose Conway-Walsh: The fact that cover is either not available or extortionate 
costs are being charge.

Chairman: All the insurers have indicated they do not provide cover.

Deputy  Rose Conway-Walsh: As such, none of them-----

Chairman: Will the witnesses comment on the availability of such cover?
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Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I suggest the question is more relevant for the life assurance 
companies.  Perhaps the Deputy might like to raise the matter with Insurance Ireland, which 
might well be able to forward her question to the relevant companies.

Deputy  Rose Conway-Walsh: I will raise my query with the other insurance companies 
and organisations when they appear before us.

Chairman: adfadf

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Gabhaim buíochas leis na finnéithe as an gcur i láthair.  How do 
insurance costs in Ireland per capita compare with the rest of the EU?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I do not have that information at my fingertips.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: We do not have that information either.  We do not compete in 
any other market.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I am sorry but I do not have an answer to the question.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: That is disappointing.  I ask the companies to look into this mat-
ter and furnish the committee with some information.  In 2016, a report indicated that Ireland 
spends just over €12,000 per capita on insurance premiums, which is four times higher than the 
average rate in the European Union.  That finding was skewed somewhat in that insurance costs 
also cover multinational companies, which have a bigger presence in this State than in others.  
However, the report points to the fact that insurance is a bigger cost per person in this State than 
it is in other countries.

The Competition and Consumer Protection Commission conducted an investigation into 
price signalling, a policy whereby companies signal prices to each other to reduce competition 
in the market.  The motor insurance companies have indicated they will refrain from signalling 
prices in the future.  By how much should this reduce the cost of insurance?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: We fully co-operated with the CCPC in terms of our commit-
ments.  As a result of the investigation, we undertook to implement training to ensure there were 
no further considerations by the CCPC.  We also undertook to comply with an annual audit by 
a third party to confirm adherence to the CCPC.  Given that there was no breach of competition 
law, I do not think there will be a straight line to the cost of insurance to which one could point.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: As the Deputy correctly stated, the CCPC investigation into 
price signalling in motor insurance is closed.  It closed with no evidence of anti-competitive be-
haviour on the part of AIG.  We signed up to undertakings at the request of the CCPC.  Similar 
to Mr. O’Midheach, I do not see a direct line in relation to the competitiveness of premiums as 
a result of the CCPC investigation.  We would always look at premiums based on the trends of 
frequency and severity.  We will continue to do that as we have done before.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We were part of the CCPC investigation and were given a clean bill 
of health.  We were not asked to be part of the commitments because it was not deemed neces-
sary.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Why was price signalling carried out?  What benefits accrued to 
the insurance businesses?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: The CCPC undertook an investigation into price signalling.  It 
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found no evidence of anti-competitive behaviour on the part of AIG.  We signed up to undertak-
ings around compliance audit and various matters, as requested by the CCPC.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Similarly, we were found not to be in breach.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I restate that we were given a clean bill of health and we did not 
have to sign up to the commitments.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: That is a pity.  I understand that the two companies here that were 
involved signed up to a deal to reform their pricing structures.

On personal injury guidelines, while I do not want the witnesses to impart competitive in-
formation, roughly what proportion of costs are claims?

Mr. Trevor Lowry: Typically, it is in the order of between 65% to 70% on motor claims.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Our percentage is similar.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Typically, the percentage is about 65%.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: If claims make up 70% of business and there is a reduction of 
40% in the value of claims, would that not make the reduction of 10% in the price of insurance 
seem quite small?  If a 40% fall in the majority of the costs the insurance companies deal with 
translates to a 10% reduction in the cost for customers, does that reduction not seem small?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: If the Deputy takes the example I gave earlier, about 700 claims 
between April and November were settled.  Of the 700 claims, only 86 went into PIAB for ju-
dicial review.  Of the 86 claims that went to PIAB, 70% of the motor awards were rejected and 
about 40% of the liability awards were rejected.  It will take a number of years for claims to 
wash through the litigation process before we see the full impact.  The Deputy is correct that the 
awards have reduced by between 35% and 40% since April, under PIAB.  There has not been 
any impact on legal costs and we also have a significant number of claims that still have to wash 
through the litigation process, which could take a number of years.

Chairman: The witnesses have given the Deputy a general answer.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: I imagine settled claims are reflected in the new guidelines.  Is that 
the case?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Yes.  For those who have gone through PIAB and settled, they 
are being settled at the judicial guideline levels.  AIG is following the judicial guidelines in the 
awards we would look to make.  The issue is that the rejection rate is still significantly higher 
than it was pre-April, which is a concern for us as an industry.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Mr. Connaughton has made the points that many of these claims 
have to wash through the system and this is a new process.  That would definitely indicate there 
will be further decreases in the cost of insurance to the punter at the end given that this is only 
the start.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: For claims that are not litigated, I agree with the Deputy.  For 
claims that are litigated, which is still a significant number, those litigated claims will probably 
still be washed through at the book of quantum level rather than the judicial guidelines level.  
There is, therefore, still a level of uncertainty.
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Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: In previous attendances of insurance companies at the committee, 
there was discussion with regard to the level of fraudulent claims the insurance companies deal 
with.  What is the percentage of claims the witnesses deal with that are fraudulent?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I do not have that percentage to hand, but I can tell the Deputy 
about the action we have taken around combating fraud.  We have our own dedicated special 
investigation unit, part of which is staffed by former gardaí from the national crime unit.  On 
our reporting to An Garda Síochána, from 2019 to 2021, we made 872 reports and we provided 
196 statements to An Garda Síochána to help it combat fraud, both at an individual policy level 
and at a claim level.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: Roughly 10% of our cases are subject to some form of internal 
review by our claims department, the majority of which is trained in investigating fraud.  We 
have a strong internal review.  Ultimately it gets to a small investigations unit.  This year, I think 
we presented 17 cases for follow through by An Garda Síochána for fraud.  The figure may have 
been slightly less in 2019 and 2020 for prosecution.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Out of how many cases in total?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: When the Deputy says “cases”-----

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Out of how many claims made to FBD for loss or adverse effect 
are these 17 claims that are seen to be fraudulent and sent to An Garda Síochána?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: It is 20,000.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: It is 17 out of 20,000.

Chairman: Does Deputy Tóibín have further questions?

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Yes, I think only two companies answered me there.  Is that right?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I am happy to answer the Deputy.  We had five cases referred 
to An Garda Síochána for fraud in 2021.  We have had one prosecution through the courts for 
fraud earlier this year.  We fully support the new insurance fraud co-ordination office as a central 
mechanism to help identify false claims.  We need to be careful about the difference, though, 
between fraudulent claims and exaggerated claims.  The burden of proof regarding fraud is 
significantly higher than the burden of proof for a claim that might in our view be exaggerated.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: May I ask if the insurance companies would at least furnish us 
with the percentage of fraudulent claims they deal with?  This was brought up previously by 
another Deputy in this committee.  There was a controversy at the time between the estimated 
percentage of claims that are deemed, understood or at least priced to be fraudulent within the 
insurance companies and the amount that actually go to the Garda.  As legislators it is important 
we know the difficulties.  If many fraudulent claims are coming in and if, for whatever reason, 
insurance companies cannot act upon them in a legal capacity, with a cost being added to insur-
ance as a result, we need to know why that is, how much it is or what proportion it is.

Chairman: We can ask each of the companies to submit as much information as they can 
on the issue.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: I have two final questions.  What is the witnesses’ analysis of the 
duty of care situation in Ireland and the costs that brings to the system?
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Mr. Aidan Connaughton: The burden of proof on the policyholder is way too high.  A 
much more common-sense approach needs to be taken to the duty of care.  Our view in AIG is 
that reform in that area would be welcome.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: I would echo that.  There is a high bar, which results in increased 
costs.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We would echo those comments as well.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: On the community base, I have worked with a number of com-
munity organisations that are finding it nearly impossible to get insurance cover.  I was listen-
ing earlier on, and one insurance company - I apologise that I cannot identify which one said 
this - claimed it had 100 community organisations on its books.  Is it not true that insurance 
companies are stepping away from or retreating from this space of community-based events?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: I will ask my chief underwriting officer, Ms Tobin, to answer that 
question.

Ms Kate Tobin: I thank Deputy Tóibín for the question.  We were the insurer, I think, that 
mentioned its involvement with community organisations.  We also mentioned that FBD is an 
indigenous Irish insurer.  We are a small insurer in the context of the global insurance market, 
even though we are fairly significant in the Irish insurance market.  How we approach our un-
derwriting and risk assessment for community organisations is that we try to write business that 
we already know or that is adjacent to our traditional types of business, which is around rural 
and farming backgrounds.  That is where most of our share of community organisations has 
come from.  We find it difficult to write in segments we do not know, and this is for two reasons: 
one, a lack of expertise within the area, and two, the item the Deputy just raised, namely, the 
difficulties with occupiers’ liability and the duty of care.  However, we endeavour to build out 
into adjacencies with our customers based on our local knowledge with the branch network we 
have.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We are probably in a different space from some of the other in-
surers on the panel here today insofar as we are heavily weighted towards the insurance of large 
corporates and multinationals rather than small to medium-sized enterprise and community 
entities.  However, we would look at our knowledge base and at our expertise and try to focus 
on our understanding of those risks we can underwrite and can price appropriately.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We have never underwritten in that space and we have no under-
writing expertise in that space.

Senator  Maria Byrne: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  Some of my questions 
have been covered but I have one about insurance to do with the diverse leisure industry, such 
as ice skating rinks and bowling alleys.  All those fun or leisure facilities are finding it very dif-
ficult to get insurance.  Some of their insurance premiums have doubled and trebled.  Will the 
companies comment on that, if relevant?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: Again, this is not our area of expertise.  We do not have underwrit-
ing expertise in this area.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: As Ms Tobin outlined, we look to underwrite activities that are 
adjacent to our normal activities, such as farm, farm extensions, marts etc.  We would not typi-
cally underwrite in this area.
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Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We underwrite what we know and where our expertise lies.  As 
I said earlier, that is in the area of large corporates and multinational clients that have global 
exposures.  Unfortunately, we do not underwrite in this area.

Senator  Maria Byrne: That is lovely.  I thank the witnesses.  The rest of my questions have 
already been covered.

Chairman: I want to raise with all companies the letter they received from the Central Bank 
on 11 June 2021.  It covers the Covid-19 and business interruption insurance expectations in 
relation to costs and the criteria for test cases.  The letter sets out the Central Bank of Ireland’s 
expectations, which include arbitrations, proceedings before the courts, or indeed the Financial 
Services and Pensions Ombudsman.  I want to get the companies’ reactions to that letter and 
see what actions they have taken arising from it.  The letter talks about an impact assessment to 
ascertain whether there should be wider beneficial impacts, and it requires the companies to do 
this.  Will the companies brief us on what they have done to date?  The letter asks that the com-
panies consider the publicly available outcomes of legal actions.  It then goes on to state: “In 
light of the expectation that an impact assessment will be carried out, certain legal actions may 
be capable of acting as a test case.”  I ask the witnesses for their attitude towards that.  Further 
down in the letter, it mentions that “the Central Bank’s expectation is that where the outcome of 
a legal action could be said to apply to a number of other policyholder customers, the plaintiff 
in such a case should not suffer financial prejudice as a result of taking the legal action and the 
relevant insurer should agree to pay the reasonable costs of such customer plaintiffs.”  The final 
page of the letter states: “The Central Bank may request insurers to produce their analysis of 
whether a legal action is likely to have a broader application to the position of customers other 
than the plaintiff.”  The letter goes on to say that the Central Bank expects insurers “to take an 
appropriate position in relation to the costs of any test cases.”  What is the witnesses’ general 
reaction to that?  Have the organisations represented responded in detail to the Central Bank 
on each of those points?  What steps have the organisations taken in compliance with those 
requirements?  I ask for a general comment on the impact assessment and the legal analysis.  
Have the organisations represented provided their legal analysis of the requirement for a test 
case to the Central Bank and will they provide a copy to the committee?  I will start with the 
representative of FBD Insurance.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: There are test cases under way and we have undertaken to pay 
all reasonable costs.  There has been a judgment and we are awaiting a quantum hearing associ-
ated with that judgment.  As I have said already, we have undertaken to pay reasonable costs 
associated with that.  It is providing a test case.  It has been brought by four plaintiffs.  It will be 
applied to the 1,076 customers, as I have already articulated.

With regard to some of the other questions from the Chairman, on the consideration of the 
framework and the wider beneficial impacts of any decisions, we had four adverse decisions 
with the Financial Services and Pensions Ombudsman, FSPO.  We considered those decisions 
collectively.  We consider them to be universally applicable.  The decisions concerned incon-
venience caused to the plaintiffs.  We considered whether that was applicable to all publicans 
covered by business interruption under the framework and deemed that it was.  We made a 
provision for €13 million and have gone about paying the 1,076 customers with regard to that 
FSPO judgment.  We have probably paid €10 million of the €13 million out to date.  We have 
considered the framework and we have engaged with the Central Bank.  We have applied it and 
we have paid.  I think that covers the Chairman’s questions.

Chairman: Do the representatives from AIG wish to respond?
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Mr. Aidan Connaughton: In very simple terms, we have ring-fenced all of the business 
interruption claims from Covid-19.  We are monitoring any legal actions or results that unfold 
in the market.  We respond on a monthly basis to the Central Bank in relation to business in-
terruption claims, the status of those claims and also any changes to legal outcomes.  We will 
continue to monitor the situation.  In the event of a legal outcome impacting any of the existing 
notifications that we have already ring-fenced, we will go back and review all of those cases 
again in line with the Central Bank guidance.

Chairman: In terms of the request by the Central Bank to do a test case, how has AIG 
complied with that?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: To my knowledge, we have not had a test case as yet.  We have 
had one ombudsman decision in our favour in relation to wording on policy relating to the event 
of an outbreak on the premises.  As I said, we monitor actions on a weekly, if not monthly, basis 
and respond to the Central Bank.  If there is anything there that we need to respond to, we will 
do so in the appropriate manner.

Chairman: I ask the representatives of the RSA Group to respond.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We have sought to abide by the framework.  We submitted details 
of our policies to the Central Bank.  We have one test case in train.  We observe very closely 
other test cases that are ongoing in the market which may be applicable to our policy terms and 
conditions.

Chairman: I ask the witnesses to comment on whether there is an arbitration clause in their 
organisations’ Covid-19 business interruption policies for any disputes, for claims cases to be 
sent to secret arbitration that is not open to the public, the information arising from which is not 
available to the public, and the whole notion that this process will cost the individual €100,000.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: An arbitration clause is a standard clause in what are predominantly 
commercial contracts between the insurer and businesses.  When we enter into arbitration, we 
enter into it in co-operation with the potential claimant.  Before going into arbitration, we seek 
to negotiate the fee structure around that with the claimant.  At all times, we seek to act in fair 
manner around arbitration.

Chairman: The cost of €100,000 was mentioned.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: I cannot comment on that.  Depending on the nature of a claim and 
complex-----

Chairman: Is that process not going against the spirit of-----

Mr. Kevin Thompson: In the complexity of it, there may be different fees.

Chairman: Sorry?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: Depending on the complexity of the claim linked to arbitration, 
there may very well be different fees.  Ultimately, in an arbitration process a senior independent 
legal counsel is put in to adjudicate, and there is also legal representation from each side.  The 
length of time that it takes to work through ultimately has a bearing on the cost.  I come back 
to my point that we negotiate with the claimant and try to be as fair as possible and to make the 
process as seamless as possible.
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Chairman: The arbitration itself is behind closed doors so the public, the industry gener-
ally, the Central Bank or indeed, any other interested party, will not know the outcome of such 
a process.  The Central Bank “expects insurers to consider publicly available outcomes of legal 
actions”.  In other parts of that correspondence of 11 June 2021, being more open and transpar-
ent is mentioned.  Before I move to the other witnesses, does Mr. Thompson wish to comment 
on that part of it?

Mr. Kevin Thompson: We have sought be as open and transparent as we can.  I return to 
my earlier comments.  We have reserved €46 million for Covid business interruption losses, a 
net cost to us of €9 million, and we have made interim payments of €13 million to claimants 
where we have not received the full information yet.  We took it upon ourselves to make sure 
that we softened the financial blow.  We try to be transparent.  Where a test case is taken, we 
support the test case and also from a cost point of view.

Chairman: I ask Mr. O’Midheach to respond.

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: There is a standard arbitration clause.  To my knowledge, we 
have not invoked it with regard to the business interruption event.  We did go to test cases, 
which are obviously transparent and publically available in terms of outcomes and the ap-
plicability of those outcomes.  We have not had an arbitration on this issue because we have 
effectively been in court, where the issue is pressed open.

Chairman: Mr. Connaughton.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: We have settled five claims in relation to Covid business inter-
ruption.  We have one awaiting acceptance.  As I said earlier, we had one case that went to the 
Financial Services and Pensions Ombudsman, which found in favour of AIG.  In relation to 
arbitration, we do have an arbitration clause.  In the small number of business interruption cases 
that have been taken to date, that clause has not been activated.

Chairman: Finally, on the wording of business interruption policies, did the organisations 
represented change the wording of these policies in 2020 or thereafter, when all of this kicked 
off?  In relation to the timelines, will the organisations suspend the application of any timelines 
in their policies for policyholders making claims under the business interruption policies for 
affected businesses, until the result of the test cases generally are decided upon?

Mr. Tomás O’Midheach: I might refer to our chief underwriting officer, Ms Tobin, to an-
swer that.

Ms Kate Tobin: We have made changes to our business interruption policy wording fol-
lowing the advent of Covid-19.  The primary purpose of the business interruption coverage on 
policies is related to damage, including property damage, and covering losses for the customer 
in respect of restoration of their businesses following damage.  What we have sought to do 
through the changes we have made to the wording has been twofold.  The first was to clarify 
the situation in respect of Covid-19.  The second was in response to the fact that we purchase 
reinsurance ourselves and in response to a limitation that was put on our reinsurance coverage.

I am not sure I fully understand the Chairman’s second question but it probably relates to the 
renewal of policies where there was business interruption during 2020.  Those policies, when 
they renew, will not confer the same coverage as before by virtue of the wording change but 
they would have the benefit of the coverage as per the original contract up until renewal.
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Chairman: Was the wording that FBD changed defective in some way, loosely worded or 
open to interpretation?

Ms Kate Tobin: As per the outcome of the court judgment, it was open to interpretation.  
We have accepted that there is such coverage now.  Our contention at the time was that the 
intention of the policy was something different.  Our wording changes have been in line with 
making that intention much clearer with the benefit of hindsight.

Chairman: Does AIG wish to comment on that?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: In the majority of our policies there was no cover for Covid 
claims.  We changed the wording on some of our larger corporate and commercial policies to 
exclude any pandemic cover very clearly in order that it would be clearer and more transparent 
going forward.

Mr. Kevin Thompson: Similar to what has been outlined, we have made changes on the 
back of reinsurance exclusions and points of clarity as some of the cases have been heard.  Ulti-
mately, if there are claims for coverage prior to that change in wording, they will be considered 
on their merits in line with the wording that would have applied at the time.

Chairman: Does Deputy MacSharry have a question before we finish?  We are obliged to 
wind up now.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: Yes, I have a question for AIG.  Why, heretofore, has it not 
opted for the test case route?  Arbitration is in secret, costs on average  €100,000 per claimant 
and is non-binding, whereas a test case, according to the guidance outlined by the Central Bank, 
prescribes that AIG as the insurer would pay the reasonable cost, it would all be in public and 
that if the test case were to prove beneficial to a client, those benefits would accrue to other 
clients insured with the company.  Is it not, therefore, fairer?  At the risk of my being totally 
wrong, and I will give the representatives of AIG an opportunity to defend themselves, is AIG 
actively avoiding the test case route because of the fact that it may expose the company?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Arbitration as a clause is a standard part of virtually every con-
tract.  As for the test case route, it would be only reasonable for me to point out that we do not 
have a significant involvement with the tourism and hospitality sectors.  We have a handful of 
claims for business interruption, which we are dealing with.  I think we had almost 628 claims 
in total, with almost 600 of those falling under a wording that had very clear coverage as being 
not applicable in respect of Covid-19 claims.  The ombudsman route is a free route, so we have 
not had-----

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: It takes years, though.

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: I am not sure I agree with that.  We have an ombudsman case 
that has come through very quickly - I think within 18 months.  As I said, we have not had an 
arbitration case presented to us yet, and the vast majority of the claims and notifications that 
have been presented to AIG have no coverage.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: On the test case for the sporting clubs where AIG has substan-
tial exposure, would it go the test case route?

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Again, it is very hard for me to talk about a specific case.  In 
respect of the sporting clubs, I have had an update from my subject matter expert on that and 
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the coverage does not apply to the product.  I think I was asked earlier if we would restrict the 
appointment of a public loss assessor.  That is not the case.  We would certainly allow the ap-
pointment of a public loss assessor.

Deputy  Marc MacSharry: It is in the policy document.

Chairman: We are due to wind up, Mr. Connaughton.  You might send us a further clarifi-
cation-----

Mr. Aidan Connaughton: Deputy MacSharry may wish to present that to the broker and 
have the broker present it to us.  My understanding from our subject matter expert on the ground 
is that we do not restrict the appointment of a public loss assessor, but I can double-check that 
for the committee.  As for the sporting organisations, my understanding is that there is a test 
case in place relating to radius wording.  That is the case we would look to regarding that par-
ticular coverage.

Chairman: I thank all the members and thank the insurance companies for appearing before 
us today.  I am sorry the meeting has gone over time but I am thankful for their contribution.  I 
will ask the clerk to the committee to send some questions that I did not reach in my contribu-
tion to all the companies and they might write back in response to each and every one of them.  
As for other queries that were raised, the last few by Deputy MacSharry and others, where full 
responses have not been possible today, the witnesses might give us a written response in a 
timely fashion.  Thank you all very much for attending.

We will now suspend for three minutes while we change over.  I ask the members to use 
their second link to the committee meeting for the next session.

Sitting suspended at 3.28 p.m. and resumed at 3.31 p.m.

Issues Related to the National Lottery: Discussion

Chairman: We resume in public session.  We are joined by Mr. Andrew Algeo, chief ex-
ecutive officer, Premier Lotteries Ireland; and Ms Carol Boate and Mr. Derek Donoghue of the 
Office of the Regulator of the National Lottery.

Before we begin, I ask members and witnesses to be advised of the note on privilege, where-
by full privilege is extended to members and those who are conducting the meeting from the 
precincts of Leinster House.  Those on the call from outside Leinster House may have only 
limited privilege. 

I now invite Mr. Algeo to make his opening statement.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Premier Lotteries Ireland, PLI, welcomes the opportunity to address 
the joint committee to respond to matters relating to the national lottery.  PLI has operated the 
national lottery under licence and regulation since November 2014.  PLI is owned by Ontario 
Teachers’ Pension Plan, OTPP, An Post Pension Funds and An Post, who together, have consid-
erable experience in operating state lotteries.

The national lottery commenced operations in 1987 and has the purpose of raising funds for 
good causes by providing lottery entertainment in Ireland.  On any week, more than one third 
of Irish adults participate in the national lottery.  Participants have contributed more than €6 bil-
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lion to the funding of good causes in Ireland since the national lottery commenced.  Under this 
licence, 57% of national lottery ticket sales went to players as prizes, 28% went to good causes 
funding, 6% went to local retail agents in commission on their sales and 9% went to PLI to run 
the national lottery and generate a return on investment.  

PLI has invested more than €71 million, predominantly in technology infrastructure, and 
doubled its workforce.  It has renewed the national lottery games and, in 2015, it responded to 
customer feedback for higher jackpots by launching a new 47-ball lottery game with a jackpot 
cap.  Since 2015, national lottery ticket sales have grown by an average of 6.6% per year, a 
turnaround from the previous seven-year period during which ticket sales shrank by 20%.  Sales 
of lottery games were also higher in 2020 than in 2015, a stark reversal of the 41% drop expe-
rienced in the last full six years of the 45-ball game.  By 2020, annual funding for good causes 
had increased by €66 million from its 2015 level to reach €254 million.  Players won €529 mil-
lion in prizes, creating 33 millionaires in 2020 alone, and lottery agents received almost €50 
million in commission.  

The recent rollover of the lottery draw has received significant attention in past weeks with 
two specific concerns raised.  The first is whether there is something amiss with the draw 
process.  Lottery draws are operating in accordance with the game rules, with nothing amiss.  
Lottery jackpot wins are transparent to the players.  They are awarded to players whose tickets 
have the six numbers that match those randomly chosen at our live televised draws.  These 
draws follow prescriptive processes and are observed by KPMG.  The numbers drawn are ret-
rospectively tested to check that no anomalies are evident.  The supplier of the central lottery IT 
system also supplies 35 other lotteries and that system is secured by several layers of protection 
which prevent malicious intrusion.  Checks and balances confirm that the game is operating 
according to the rules. 

The second concern expressed was that the lottery game design is unwinnable.  The lottery 
jackpot can be won, as the six-year history of the current game design clearly shows.  A ticket 
has the same chance of winning in each lottery jackpot draw, the lottery plus 1 draw and the 
lottery plus 2 draw, each of which have 47 balls.  Since 2015, there has been, on average, a 
winner of the lottery jackpot every five weeks, with an average value of €5.8 million; a winner 
of the lottery plus 1 top prize every six weeks, and a winner of the lottery plus 2 top prize also 
every six weeks.  In the period since this lottery jackpot started to roll on 9 June 2021, there has 
been, on average, a winner of the lottery plus 1 top prize every four and a half weeks and of the 
lottery plus 2 top prize every four and a half weeks.  The main lottery draw can be won and it 
frequently is.  

It is highly unusual that the current lottery jackpot still has no winner.  Given the tickets 
purchased since early June, the chances are akin to rolling a die 37 times without the number 
six arising.  Then again it was somewhat unusual that we had lottery jackpot winners on three 
consecutive Saturdays just before this long roll.  Variation in jackpot roll lengths occur because 
each lottery draw is a pure game of chance without memory.  Some €46 million has been gen-
erated for good causes from Lotto ticket sales in this current jackpot roll.  Since the jackpot 
capped at a record €19 million, 215 winners of prizes below the jackpot have shared in the 
€18.1 million of prize money which would otherwise have grown the jackpot further.  In this 
way, as the roll has continued, the game design has rewarded participation with large prizes.

It is in the interests of PLI, and those of all stakeholders of the national lottery, including 
our customers, that winning the jackpot is seen as both aspirational and possible.  That requires 
jackpots to be both large and won frequently enough.  This is a balance.  We know our custom-



15 December 2021

29

ers want this lottery jackpot to be won soon, as do we.  We have sought regulatory approval 
to introduce a “must be won draw” into the lottery game rules, which would ensure that such 
an improbably long wait for a capped jackpot win cannot occur again.   That would also allow 
us to provide certainty to lottery players as to the latest date on which this record €19 million 
jackpot will be won.

I thank the committee for its attention.  I am happy to answer any questions that members 
may have.

Chairman: I thank Mr. Algeo.  I invite Deputy Durkan to put his questions.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the witnesses for coming before the committee.  Prior 
to his current appointment, did Mr. Algeo have any experience in dealing with games of chance 
such as the national lottery?  If so, to what extent?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Prior to taking up this job two and a half years ago, I had never worked 
in a lottery.  However, I had worked in the gambling sector up until 2016.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In what element of the gambling sector did Mr. Algeo work?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I worked in strategy in international development in Paddy Power plc.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: During that period, did Mr. Algeo have opportunity to perfect 
the game of chance to the benefit of the consumer and-or the operator?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I did not work in the design of betting games in my previous career.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Were there any issues arising from Mr. Algeo’s experience 
there that he was able to bring to the national lottery here?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I have broad experience in management and leadership of organisa-
tions which I hope has been of some benefit to the national lottery.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank Mr. Algeo.  I welcome the announcement last evening 
to the effect that a must-win prize is available through the rollover.  How will the must-win op-
erate, given that the previous six months’ experience was that it was not possible to win it and 
it was rolled over on 51 occasions?  What has taken place in the meantime that will enable the 
consumers to be reassured that the must-win will be a win?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The jackpot has been capable of being won at all times since the game 
was designed in 2016.  It has been running for six years.  As chance has had it, the game has 
been won on many occasions but this particular jackpot has not been won and has been in a roll 
since June.  The broad direction of the proposal which we have made to the regulator is that we 
would have a draw whereby if nobody wins the jackpot, that is, matches the top six numbers, 
the moneys would instead be won by winners in the tier below that where there are winners and 
as a result it would be certain that the jackpot amount is paid to players.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Am I correct in presuming Premier Lotteries Ireland employs 
PR companies to carry out research or to promote the benefits of the lottery?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We have internal teams and we also have various service providers 
who help us with communications and advertising and marketing.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: How much has Premier Lotteries Ireland spent on advertis-
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ing, marketing or PR in the periods from January to June and June to the present day?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We do not disclose the breakdown of our operating costs because we 
are operating in a market which competes for household disposable expenditure against many 
other organisations and for us to disclose that would be commercially sensitive.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Of course, everything can be said to be commercially sensi-
tive after a while.  Arising from that, what is the total value of sales of lottery tickets from Janu-
ary to June and from June to December?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We publish our sales figures on an annual basis and post them in the 
Companies Registration Office as well as laying them before the Oireachtas but we do not break 
them down prior to them being audited or on a mid-year basis.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Mr. Algeo has gone silent there.  I was not able to hear the 
end of that.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry.  I said that we publish in our annual report, which is in the 
Companies Registration Office and laid before the Oireachtas, but we do not break them down 
on any basis more granular than annual.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Would it not be good to break them down from the point 
of view of establishing trends within the organisation with a view to ensuring that no glitches 
occurred or alerting Premier Lotteries Ireland to any glitch that might occur?  Would it not be 
better to have a situation whereby, on a monthly or six-monthly basis, Premier Lotteries Ireland 
might be able to provide the information, and could Premier Lotteries Ireland do it?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We provide that to the regulator.  The regulator has access to all infor-
mation within PLI on a real-time basis.  That is the method of disclosure that we have under the 
terms of the licence.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Is Mr. Algeo satisfied that the terms of the licence allow Pre-
mier Lotteries Ireland to withhold the information that I have requested?  Is Mr. Algeo satisfied 
that that is within the terms of reference?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The terms of the licence stipulate that we publish our annual accounts 
and put them down in front of the Oireachtas, and that is what we do.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: In respect of the present carryover, which is the result of 51 
no-wins of the major prize, what effect has that had on sales?  Has it accentuated a public aware-
ness and anxiety to buy more Lotto tickets or has it resulted in the opposite?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The existing Lotto jackpot roll has no effect on how sales are dispersed 
around the various entities but, in absolute terms, sales have been larger than average since the 
jackpot has reached high levels.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Are there any built-in safety devices to prevent or discourage 
addiction to gambling by having a prize that appears to dominate everything else and might 
encourage people who had a potential addiction to gambling?  Is there a possibility such addic-
tion might happen?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The national lottery is based on small amounts purchased by large 
numbers of people and there are extensive protections in place for players, both under our 
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licence but also in how PLI operates.  Our lottery games, including Lotto, are designed with 
player safety in mind and they are approved by the regulator before they are launched.  There 
are mandatory spend limits in place for all customers in our digital channels.  We close our 
website and our terminals at night between 11 p.m. and 7 a.m.  Our advertising conforms to 
our own advertising standard code as well, as those of the Advertising Standards Authority 
for Ireland, ASAI.  In addition, we have material monitoring and intervention processes in our 
online business.  We have a “Think 21” campaign in retail.  We do not accept credit cards as 
a payment method on our website and we have a photo-identification, ID, check our digital 
registration process.  There is a material number of protections in place for players of national 
lottery games.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I will leave space for other members to ask questions.  I have 
two final questions.  In relation to the rollover of Lotto Plus 1 and Lotto Plus 2, how many times 
has the prize in each case been rolled over since their inception?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Since 2015 when the game became a 47-ball game, the Lotto Plus 1 top 
prize has been won on average every six weeks and the Lotto Plus 2 top prize has been won on 
average every six weeks.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: How many times were they rolled over?  According to my 
information, in the case of Lotto Plus 2 it was 16 times and of Lotto Plus 1 it was eight times.  
Would that be correct?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The games have been in play in that format for over six years and have 
been won on average every six weeks.  Over that period the number of times it has rolled over 
would be greater than those numbers.  It might be in the order of 50 times.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Mr. Algeo is a little imprecise in the replies to some of the 
questions.  I will ask questions now, Chairman, and you might possibly let me speak again at 
the end.  Mr. Algeo said in his initial statement: “Since 2015, national lottery ticket sales have 
grown by an average of 6.6% per year, a turnaround from the previous seven-year period during 
which ticket sales shrank by 20%”.  Has he any idea why they shrank by 20% in the seven-year 
period he mentioned?  Has it not more to do with the national economic crash, which covers 
that period exactly, when people did not have as much money to speculate?  Was that not the 
reason the lottery faltered during that period, as opposed to taking credit for the fact that it has 
grown in the subsequent period of national economic revival?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The period when it started to grow coincided with the period when 
PLI commenced material investment in the national lottery.  It coincided with the rejuvenation 
of the games and improvement of the customer experience in general.  I believe that those are 
material contributing factors to the turnaround in the fortunes of the national lottery.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Mr. Algeo does not think the turnaround in the economy had 
any impact at all.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I believe that the actions of, and material investment by PLI, have had 
a material effect on the sales.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I will come back to that again, Chairman, if I get a chance.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Ba mhaith liom buíochas a ghabháil le Mr. Algeo for appearing 
before the committee.  This is something that is of great interest to many people.  My first ques-
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tion relates to the probabilities of this happening.  It is my understanding that with 47 balls an 
individual has a one in 10.7 million chance of winning.  An average of 1.4 million tickets are 
sold per game.  Therefore, there is a 13% probability of winning and, obviously, an 87% chance 
of it being rolled over.  That is 13% if each of the 1.4 million tickets per game is different.

Regarding the 87% chance of it being rolled over, the probability of that happening 54 
times in a row is 0.005%.  Obviously, a probability of 0.005% is highly unusual.  Mr. Algeo 
said in his opening statement that it is highly unusual that this lotto jackpot still has no winner 
and that given the number of tickets purchased since early June the chances are akin to rolling 
a dice 37 times without the number six arising.  My calculations on that is that it is double that 
on the basis of the 1.4 million tickets sold per game and that the probability would be 0.01%.  
Could Mr. Algeo clarify if it is that the number of tickets sold per game has reduced?  From my 
calculations that would mean that there would be approximately 847,000 tickets sold per game.  
Perhaps he will clarify that initially.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The sentence in the statement reflects the actual number of unique 
numbered tickets that are entered into each draw and the probability, given that those sales oc-
curred, that the jackpot was not won in each subsequent draw.  There is no estimate or average 
in it.  It is simply the multiplication of the probabilities of each draw, looking at the actual sales, 
being won multiplied by each other and that brings us to that sentence.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Does Mr. Algeo mean that it brings it down because of the 
unique aspect?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Yes.  If ten players bought tickets, but two of them had picked the 
same numbers, then the overall probability of the draw being won would be affected.  The draw 
would pay the jackpot between two people if those numbers came up, but it would not be ten 
possible winning tickets.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Then the unique aspect is basically that 847,000 rather than the 
1.4 million per game.  That is what Mr. Algeo is saying, in effect, in terms of the unique aspect.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Yes.  I must admit that I did not recognise the numbers in the first piece 
of analysis the Deputy gave.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Okay.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: However, I can confirm that the second piece is based on actual sales 
of unique combinations.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Okay.  I wish to go back to the point when the national lottery 
was privatised by a Fine Gael Government in 2014.  Two additional balls were added to the total 
numbers needed to match and win.  This was always going to decrease the number of winners 
and increase the number of losers, which is really privatisation in a nutshell.  However, we are 
here today because of the concern expressed by some about the extensive run of jackpot roll-
overs.  We have just spoken about the low probability of that happening.  In my view, while the 
extensive run of rollovers might not have been predicted, surely it should have been prevented 
at the outset in the setting of the national lottery’s game rules.  Is Mr. Algeo aware of any risk 
assessment that was done at the time by the Government?  I know he is not here to speak for the 
Government, but I am interested in whether he was aware of whether there was a risk assess-
ment carried out at that time.  When the sale was agreed did the Government of the day raise 
with PLI the issue of unlimited jackpot rollovers and no requirement for unclaimed prizes to go 
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to charitable causes?  I am interested because this is now the issue of the day, but it probably 
should have been looked at in 2014 to ensure it could not happen.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am not aware of what analysis was carried out by the Government at 
that time.  I am sorry that I cannot answer that question.  I may have missed a second part to the 
question and I apologise if I have.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: The question related to the risk assessment and then what deci-
sion was made at the time when PLI took over.  Looking at best practice, in Britain a jackpot 
can only be rolled over five times.  I am startled that this was not examined at the point when the 
national lottery was privatised.  The other major biweekly lottery, the EuroMillions, is the same 
in that the jackpot can only be rolled over five times.  Is Mr. Algeo aware if that was discussed 
at any point at the time of the privatisation or, indeed, what are his views on that?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The 47-ball game was designed to meet a customer need as expressed 
in market research.  The market research had a number of game designs tested and the strong 
customer preference was to have larger jackpots.  That is what is brought about by having a 
larger number of balls.  The 52% or the portion of money that goes to prizes and the portion of 
money that goes to good causes and so forth were not affected in that.  It is not a matter of less 
or more money going to prizes, it is just how frequently the prizes are won and how big the 
prizes are.  That is a balance, and the balance, on the basis of market research at the time, was 
to increase the quantum of the jackpot while reducing the frequency of the jackpots.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Regarding unclaimed prizes, it was reported by the media earlier 
this year that unclaimed prizes in 2020 amounted to €17 million.  I am sure the people who 
have not claimed their prizes will not be too happy to hear that they missed them.  Can Mr. Al-
geo specify exactly what happens to the money in the unclaimed prizes?  In Britain, unclaimed 
prizes are directed into the relevant national good causes fund after 180 days.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Under the terms of the licence that was tendered, the unclaimed prizes 
are used solely for the purpose of promoting the national lottery.  The effect of promoting the 
national lottery is to generate ticket sales that then go to generating prizes, money for good 
causes, retailer commission and funds for PLI to cover the operating costs of running the na-
tional lottery as well as return on investment.  As the Deputy noted, the quantity of unclaimed 
prizes was €17 million in 2020.  That is actually a reduction on the previous year and the year 
before that.  It has been going down.  In 2020, it was less than 2% of sales for the first time.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: It is quite interesting and probably something on which the com-
mittee needs to focus because, obviously, the purpose of the lottery is to generate money for 
good causes.  The impact on those causes must be central to the focus of the committee.  It is a 
pity that was not considered when the national lottery was privatised by the then Government.

Chairman: I remind the Deputy of the limited time she has remaining.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I wish to ask a final question relating to probability.  My apolo-
gies for returning to this issue.  Mr. Algeo stated that the probability of having 54 rollovers is the 
same as that of a die being cast 37 times without a six being rolled, which is 0.01%.  We have 
agreed on that.  For the same probability to apply to the run of rollovers means that fewer than 1 
million unique tickets would need to be sold per game.  Obviously, that is lower as a percentage 
of chances of winning.  Does Mr. Algeo agree that is a lower percentage of chance of winning 
the national lottery compared with the British national lottery?
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Mr. Andrew Algeo: I do not have a comparative statistic for the British lottery.  I believe it 
might be 59 balls there.  That game has an entirely different structure.  I believe it can roll over 
a fixed number of times and then has a draw that must-----

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Five times.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Five times.  That will bring frequent prizes at lower levels.  The num-
bers I provided are based on sales at the beginning of June and running into July and August as 
they actually were.  That is on what the analysis is based.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I ask Mr. Algeo to furnish the committee at a later stage with 
more detail in respect of that comparison with the British lottery.  I think it is a 1 in 45 million 
chance, as an individual, to win the British lottery, but in terms of ticket sales, etc., that obvi-
ously changes and the probability changes.  I would be interested to get those figures.  I can 
send him my specific question after the meeting, if that is okay.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: I welcome our guests to this important meeting.  I refer to the 
seeking of regulatory approval to introduce a must-be-won draw.  Mr. Algeo referred in his 
opening remarks to knowing his customers.  Let us be frank: if it were not for the campaign by 
Deputy Durkan, Mr. Algeo would not be doing this.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The interest of, and comments by, Deputy Durkan are certainly wel-
come.  We have been working with our suppliers and, indeed, we notified the regulator in early 
November of our intention to introduce a device such as this.  As the national lottery has so 
many checks and balances, parallel systems and layers of governance over every draw, it is not 
a trivial thing to change games rules.  The process of introducing a contingency to a very long 
draw, or this very long draw, has been in place for some months.

Senator  Neale Richmond: It is interesting that we only heard about it the night before Mr. 
Algeo was due to appear before the committee.  Not for the first time in my political career, I 
think we all owe a debt of gratitude to Deputy Durkan, regardless of our political shade.  On 
that note, how much money has been spent on advertising since November?  How does that 
compare with the previous two years?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We do not break out our operating expenses-----

Senator  Neale Richmond: Why not?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: -----because they are commercially sensitive.

Senator  Neale Richmond: Surely advertising spend is beyond commercially sensitive.  If 
there is a rollover draw that is not being won and a campaign of understandable public concern 
that it is not being won, and there has clearly been a significant increase in the level of advertis-
ing, Mr. Algeo should be able to furnish those details to an Oireachtas committee.  If he is not 
prepared to do so at this stage or does not have them to hand, perhaps he can provide them by 
way of further correspondence.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry, but we do not break out our advertising spend as it is com-
mercially sensitive.

Senator  Neale Richmond: Okay.  Mr. Algeo would have to admit there has been a sig-
nificant volume of advertising, regardless of the amount that has been spent, since November.
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Mr. Andrew Algeo: The amount of advertising has varied, as it does, from week to week 
and month to month.

Senator  Neale Richmond: It varies, but it is clear to me that this draw was not being won, 
focus was rightly brought to it by a Member of the Oireachtas and the amount of advertising 
increased.  I wish to return to an element of the replies Mr. Algeo provided to Deputy Durkan.  
He stated there has not been an actual decline in sales but there has been a short-term decline in 
sales.  I ask him to provide a little more depth in terms of the reasoning, from his commercial 
point of view, for that.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry, but I do not remember suggesting there a short-term decline 
in sales.  Is the Deputy referring to prior to PLI operating the national lottery?

Senator  Neale Richmond: Yes, but I am more interested in the short-term decline.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry; the Deputy asking about a short-term decline.  In which 
period?

Senator  Neale Richmond: As Mr. Algeo stated, compared with PLI, but also just in terms 
of sales for the past six months and how they have compared.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Sales of the lotto product have been higher than normal in the past four 
months, let us say.  I do not think I can say any more than that.

Senator  Neale Richmond: It is a little concerning because, obviously, there is public 
money involved and this has become a significant focus of attention and now we are having 
one of these must-be-won draws.  Does Mr. Algeo envisage this being required again in future?  
Is it his intention to let it go for 50 rollovers or 51 rollovers or, as Deputy Farrell suggested, to 
perhaps look at European or UK models?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I would prefer not to go into the exact lengths of time simply because 
this is a matter for consideration by the regulator at this point.  The idea in general is to provide 
certainty to the public in respect of the number of times the jackpot will roll over once it reaches 
a cap.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Ba mhaith liom buíochas a ghabháil le Mr. Algeo as ucht teacht 
isteach.  The purpose of the national lottery is to raise money for worthy causes and to have a 
regular prize draw for the public.  That is not happening at the moment, so it is clear the system 
is broken.  It is clear that what we have today is not what was designed in the first place.  It 
has not happened by accident.  The addition of 11 balls has obviously changed the game.  The 
addition of extra balls since 1988, and including some since Mr. Algeo’s company took over 
in 2014, has made it more difficult to win and, therefore, more likely that jackpots are not won 
regularly.

What was the turnover of PLI in the first six months and how does that contrast with the 
second half of the year?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am afraid that we do not break out any sales figures before they are 
audited.  We report on an annual basis as stipulated in our licence.  The game itself has been in 
situ for more than six years now and has produced jackpot winners on average every five weeks.  
Similarly, the lotto plus 1 and lotto plus 2 draws have produced jackpots on a frequent basis.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: There is no way that Mr. Algeo’s company does not break out the 
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monthly turnout of its sales.  I am sure any managing director would be acutely interested in the 
monthly turnover and profit of the business.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry; perhaps I ought to have stated that we do not publish it.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Mr. Algeo stated that these things are sensitive because of compe-
tition.  With whom is PLI in competition in Ireland?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Everybody who is competing for household expenditure, including 
fast-moving consumer goods, FMCG, companies-----

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: That is a very broad understanding of competition by anybody’s 
measure.  Surely a jackpot worth €19 million is a licensed business because it is singular in its 
operation and does not have direct competition.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Buying a lottery ticket is a discretionary decision among many other 
discretionary decisions consumers can make as to what to do with their disposable income.  The 
national lottery does compete in the marketplace for that entirely discretionary expenditure.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: I understand that but, to put it in marketing terms, if you do not 
analyse your competitors with a sharp focus, you will not be able to compete fully or operate.  I 
do not accept that expenditure on a national lottery jackpot is in competition with pretty much 
all other discretionary expenditure, and I am sure that most others do not either.

Is it not in the lottery’s interest to have lotto jackpots increase in size?  When there is a big 
jackpot, people are more aware of it, more interested in it and more likely to spend.  Therefore, 
the greater the number of rollovers, the more profitable the company.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: It is a matter of balance.  The available income from ticket sales can be 
used, at one extreme, on very frequent jackpot wins or, at the other end of the spectrum, on very 
large jackpot wins.  It is a matter of finding, through customer preference, where that balance 
should be struck.  The history of the lotto game shows the lotto sales shrank at a far quicker rate 
than most national lottery ticket sales prior to the game change and since that time have-----

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: Does Mr. Algeo not admit that, in the past four months, there has 
been an increase in sales for the jackpot prize of the national lottery and that, as a result, it is fair 
to understand that an increasingly high jackpot increases turnover and profitability?  There is 
probably a flipside, however, in that if it gets into the public psyche that a draw or jackpot can-
not be won, it hurts sales, which might motivate a private company to seek regulatory change 
in that regard.  Is that the reason the regulatory change was sought?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The reason we applied to the regulator for a change to the rules of 
the existing game — it was just to change a portion of it — was to return to having a balance 
between high and frequent jackpots.  It is not good to have jackpots that are too frequent and 
low, nor is it good to have jackpots that are too infrequent and high; it is a matter of getting the 
balance right.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: In hindsight, maybe the addition of the extra balls has caused dif-
ficulty.

PLI is a consortium.  It includes the An Post pension fund and the Ontario Teachers’ Pen-
sion Plan.  Accounts have shown that PLI has racked up about €120 million in interest on loans 
from the consortium since 2014.  The payment of the interest is having an effect on reported 
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profitability.  It is hard to understand why the lottery would take out loans, with interest of €120 
million, from the consortium over the period in question and have to pay back this interest.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: PLI, the operator of the national lottery, has invested very heavily in 
the national lottery — predominantly in technology — to the tune of €71 million.  In addition, 
PLI paid the winning bid in the tender, amounting to €405 million.  Those facts create a need 
for funding.

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: The interest repayments are the reason profitability has been re-
duced.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The business is profitable and generates cash flow from its operations.  
It also has costs of finance after that fact, which is to finance-----

Deputy  Peadar Tóibín: The licence is granted by the State.  We have to return to the origi-
nal model of regular jackpots.  It is necessary to have time limits within which jackpots must 
be won.

Chairman: Mr. Algeo said the money from unclaimed prizes goes back into promoting the 
lottery.  Is that correct?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: That is correct.  That is what is stipulated in the licence.

Chairman: I understand that.  What has been unclaimed so far in 2021?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I do not have that figure.  At this point it would be hard to disclose it, 
but we certainly will be disclosing it in the fullness of time, along with our accounts.

Chairman: In 2020, the figure was €17 million.  What was it in 2019?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: It was €19 million the year before, €16 million the year before, €16 
million the year before that, and €20 million in 2015.

Chairman: Could Mr. Algeo go back over those figures?  The figure for 2020 was €17 mil-
lion.  What was it in 2019?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The figure for 2019 was €19 million.

Chairman: What was it the previous year, in 2018?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: In the previous year, it was also €19 million.  It was €16 million in 
2017, €16 million in 2016 and €20 million in 2015.

Chairman: Those sums of money are ring-fenced for the promotion of the lottery.  From 
that, I can take it that these vast amounts of money were spent each year on advertising and 
general promotion of one kind or another.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Those funds have been used entirely for the promotion of the national 
lottery, as stipulated by the licence.

Chairman: Is that not a fantastic amount of money to be spending on promotion?  Mr. Al-
geo was asked earlier to break out the figure, as he put it, but the figure is already broken out 
because the money has to be ring-fenced for promotion.  We can safely say that, for PR and 
promotion, all of this money was spent.  Therefore, we have a figure that is broken out from the 
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company’s accounts.  Can Mr. Algeo describe for me what promotion actually means?  What 
comes under the heading of promotion in the accounts?  Is it advertising?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The definition of promotion is laid out in the licence.  We conform to 
that definition.

Chairman: Generally, what is that?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The answer I gave is probably the most straightforward and concise 
one.

Chairman: Could we at least be given a list of the headings under promotion and the per-
centages of expenditure under each of the headings in the years from 2015 onwards?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I am sorry but we do not disclose how we break out our promotional 
activities because it is commercially sensitive.

Chairman: Therefore, there is no way for me to prove to the general public that PLI actu-
ally spent €20 million in 2015 and €16 million in 2017.  There is no way for me to comfort the 
general public with the fact that all the amounts we are talking about for each of the years were 
actually spent on promotion.  We do not know if there was a leakage from the amount of money 
into general supports for the company.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The regulator has visibility of all figures and facts within PLI, includ-
ing that.

Chairman: We will take that up with him then.  There are a number of times the lottery 
winnings have not been claimed.  In 2020, €17 million was unclaimed.  Is that right?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: That is correct.

Chairman: How many prizes would that represent?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: It would comprise prizes of different sizes within each year.  There are 
literally hundreds of thousands of prizes involved with such numbers.  It is a very broad range 
of prizes from all forms of games that the national lottery sells.

Chairman: Do the witnesses have a breakdown of those that they could share with the 
committee?  Do they have a general response to the categories of prizes and the numbers un-
claimed?  Could that data be provided after the meeting?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We break out the detail stipulated in our accounts of the prizes that go 
unclaimed.  I can say that in general it really is a very wide range of prizes, although, as the 
Chairman might imagine, the larger prizes are more likely to be claimed, not least because PLI, 
as a condition of its licence, advertises extensively when a large prize has not been claimed.  
Such advertising can be heard particularly on local media when there is an outstanding large 
claim.

Chairman: According to the witnesses, the €19 million prize will have to be claimed and 
there will be a winner.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: There is a winner in the case of all unclaimed prizes but it is just that 
in those cases, the individuals have not come forward to claim the prizes.  The ticket has not 
been presented.
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Chairman: The top prize is now €19 million.  That will certainly be won.  There must be 
a winner.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Under the proposal that we have put to the regulator and requested, the 
top prize on a given date in the future would be won either by somebody who gets all six num-
bers or if nobody gets the six numbers, by the winners in the tier below where there is a winner, 
such as in the match five numbers or match five numbers and the bonus number.

Chairman: Is there not a greater possibility as unclaimed money goes into the lower tiers 
that there would be a greater number of unclaimed prizes?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: It requires more than one person to claim.  For example, since the 
jackpot has been capped, much larger prizes are being paid to match five and match five plus 
bonus numbers.  There have been 217 winners of those large prizes sharing €18 million over the 
period since the beginning of October.  It is not a very large number of winners.

Chairman: The company is a winner-----

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Last Saturday there were two, for example.

Chairman: -----when it comes to unclaimed prizes.  It is something it does not have to take 
from its balance sheet to promote the company.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The national lottery ticket sales are the beneficiary of the promotion.  
The main beneficiaries of national lottery ticket sales are the players in prizes, good causes and 
retailers, as well as PLI in covering the cost of operating the business and return on invested 
capital.

Chairman: Will the witness repeat that?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: Unclaimed prizes are used to promote the national lottery under the 
terms of the licence.  Promoting the national lottery generates ticket sales.  Ticket sales are dis-
tributed between players, good causes, retailers and PLI.

Chairman: Okay.  Does Mr. Algeo have a breakdown of the unclaimed prizes?  I am spe-
cifically talking about physical tickets versus the online tickets.  Is there any breakdown of that 
within the company?

Mr. Andrew Algeo: There are no unclaimed prizes in the digital channel because prizes 
would be paid to the account of a winner in the case of a digital ticket.

Chairman: Okay.  Those are my questions on unclaimed prizes.  We can now move to the 
next stage of the committee, which involves the regulator.  I thank the witnesses for attending 
today and I am sure we will have further conversations about this in future.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: May I ask another question before we move on?

Chairman: We have moved on but go ahead, Deputy.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I am sorry about that.  When will the new and revamped 
game begin?  I am referring to the winnable one.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: The existing game is winnable by evidence of the past six years.  The 
amendment to the existing game, which relates to a must-be-won prize, will come into effect as 
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soon as we can if the regulator provides permission.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I have a text from somebody who asks how this will be put 
into effect and whether somebody pull a lever, throw a switch or plug in something to enable 
the winning of the game.  Those are the texter’s words, not mine.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: We have been working for over two months now in perfecting the nec-
essary changes in the systems, processes, governance and controls that would bring this change 
into effect.  Any change to the game rules has a material effect on the technology and operations 
of the national lottery.  That is tested, including by using independent people to help us ensure 
we have carried out those tests correctly.  It is not easy.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank Mr. Algeo.  I will come back to that in the next ses-
sion.

Chairman: As we are finishing this part of the meeting, we will briefly suspend while mem-
bers reconnect via their next link.

Mr. Andrew Algeo: I thank the committee members and the Chairman.

Sitting suspended at 4.28 p.m. and resumed at 4.30 p.m.

Chairman: I welcome Ms Carol Boate, Regulator of the National Lottery, and Mr. Derek 
Donohoe, deputy regulator and head of the audit and finance office of the Regulator of the 
National Lottery.  The format of the meeting will be for Ms Boate to make some brief opening 
remarks, followed by questions from members.

I remind members and witnesses of the note on privilege, whereby they have full privilege if 
there are on the campus of Leinster House but if they are outside the confines of Leinster House 
they may have only have partial privilege.  

I invite Ms Boate to make her opening statement. 

Ms Carol Boate: I thank the committee for inviting me today to discuss issues relating to 
the national lottery.  I am joined today by Mr. Derek Donohoe, deputy regulator and head of 
audit and finance.  The Office of the Regulator of the National Lottery was established in 2014 
as an independent regulatory office under statute by legislation passed by the Oireachtas, the 
National Lottery Act 2013.  The regulatory role includes to procure the holding of the national 
lottery; to monitor and enforce compliance by the operator with the National Lottery Act 2013 
and the 2014 licence awarded to it; to manage and control the national lottery fund to ensure the 
amounts going to prizes, good causes and the operator are correctly accounted for; to consider 
for approval certain matters relating to the national lottery, including schemes for national lot-
tery games proposed by the operator; and to exercise the enforcement rights of any trademark 
of the national lottery.

I took up the role of regulator in 2017, following a career in competition and consumer pro-
tection law and policy.  I am trained in economics, law, and regulatory governance.  Our aim is 
to ensure a safe, sustainable, properly run national lottery maximising funds for good causes.  I 
am assisted in this role by nine staff who are experienced in law, accounting, auditing, psychol-
ogy, research, communications and risk management.  As Regulator of the National Lottery, I 
and my staff work to ensure that the national lottery is run with all due propriety and that the 
interests of all those who participate in the national lottery are protected.  While those who 
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purchase tickets for the national lottery do so in the full knowledge that it is a game of chance, 
as are all lotteries, my office seeks to provide them with the confidence that the national lottery 
is being run to the highest standards of probity and consumer protection and that their interests 
are safeguarded. 

The regulator’s office oversees the holding of national lottery games in several ways.  Any 
new game, or any change to an existing game, must be submitted by the national lottery opera-
tor to the regulator for approval prior to launching the game.  The regulator’s office then de-
termines whether the scheme for the game is compliant with parameters set out in the Act and 
licence.  Only certain game types are permitted, certain information must be made available to 
players and the game must complete extensive testing requirements.  Every proposal from the 
operator goes through a rigorous set of checks by the regulator, the head of audit and finance, 
our legal and compliance team, and the head of player protection and research.  Our objec-
tives, given to us by the Oireachtas, are to ensure: the game is run with all due propriety; that 
the interests of players are protected; that the long-term sustainability of the national lottery is 
safeguarded; and, after that, we consider the return to good causes generated. 

Commercial considerations such as the price of a ticket or the prizes to be won are reserved 
to the operator under the Act and the licence.  The financial model in the licence incentivises the 
operator to maximise returns for good causes in the design of its games.  In each game, 65% of 
the proceeds, after prizes, go to good causes and, after retailer commission and the regulatory 
levy, the remainder goes to the operator.  

When a game is approved, my office then continuously monitors the operator to ensure that 
it is operating the game in compliance with terms of the approval, and the Act and licence.  My 
office performs numerous checks and reviews across a broad range of aspects of the game and 
areas of the operator’s business - from ticket sales through to draw operations and prize claims 
- using a risk-based approach.  We vary our checks and interrogations across the entire opera-
tion in order that the operator is focused on being compliant in all matters.  Some examples of 
the checks and balances in place are as follows.  There are strict tests and process protocols in 
place for how each and every draw is conducted.  An independent company performs statistical 
checks on ball sets.  The appointment of this company is approved by my office.  Each week we 
review sales figures for every national lottery game and perform checks to ensure the proceeds 
are correctly allocated to prizes, good causes, retailers and the operator.  We receive regular 
reports from the operator on the speed of prize payments, on who has access to the secure areas 
and on online play patterns.  My office has conducted proactive expert reviews of the quality 
and capacity of the operator’s IT and communications systems, including its cybersecurity, to 
check that it is capable of operating the national lottery games with all due propriety.  We moni-
tor the advertising and public relations of the operator to check that the content and location 
meet the relevant standards and take enforcement action where required.

  With regard to the current unprecedented rollover of the lotto jackpot, I can assure the 
committee the lotto game is operating in line with the game rules and there are no regulatory 
issues.  Independent observers from KPMG attend every lotto draw, although they are not on 
camera any more, to ensure the strict protocols in place are followed to the letter.  The €19 mil-
lion cap on the lotto jackpot is part of the game rules introduced in 2015.  The cap allows prize 
moneys that ordinarily go to growing the jackpot to go instead to growing the value of the next 
highest prize won and this flow-down of prize money has been operating correctly.  Since the 
lotto jackpot reached its cap on 29 September, 215 players have won much larger amounts than 
would ordinarily be available for matching five numbers or five numbers plus the bonus ball, 27 
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of these players won prizes ranging from almost a quarter of a million euro up to €1.25 million, 
and the remaining 188 won match five prizes ranging from €22,872 to €35,234.

Importantly, the split of the proceeds from lotto sales are, and have been, the same in ev-
ery draw, regardless of the jackpot level.  For every euro spent on lotto tickets 52 cent go into 
prizes, 31.2 cent is returned to good causes, 6 cent go to the retailer in commission and the 
remaining 10.8 cent go to the operator from which they pay the costs of operating the game.

The current extended period without a jackpot win is unusual in the history of the game but 
it is not unusual in the history of lotteries.  Statistically unlikely events are part of the nature of 
games of chance and lotteries.  It was also statistically unlikely that the lotto jackpot would be 
won three Saturdays in a row and yet this happened at the end of May and over the June bank 
holiday weekend earlier this year when players won jackpots totalling more than €11 million 
in three consecutive Saturday draws.  Lotto sales have attained sustained high levels since the 
record-breaking jackpot was reached and good causes have benefited significantly from this.  
Approximately €46 million has been earned for good causes by lotto since the jackpot was last 
won. 

I have provided further details to accompany my statement that I hope is helpful to the com-
mittee in providing an overview of the role of the regulator.  I look forward to answering any 
questions the members may have. 

Chairman: I thank Mr. Boate for that.  I call Deputy Durkan.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I welcome the regulator to the meeting and thank her for her 
opening statement.  Has she a response to an injudicious text I received from a constituent to 
the effect that he inquired whether some change would be made?  He asked if a handbrake, lever 
or switch had been pulled or if some technical or IT change had taken place that might have 
brought this into focus in June and currently would it be done to level the playing pitch once 
again, as he would see it.  For instance, from here on in, what will change that did not change 
before?  If we have the same technology, draw, lottery and methodology, how will it be possible 
to change from a non-winnable to a winnable situation without somebody, somewhere, chang-
ing the technology?  That is what that constituent is saying.

Ms Carol Boate: The answer is that a change to the technology is required to bring in a 
must-be-won feature to Lotto.  Lotto has always been a game where if you match the six num-
bers, you win the jackpot.  If we are to bring in a feature whereby even if there is no winning 
ticket matching the six numbers drawn the jackpot money will be won because all of it will 
roll down to the next highest prize won, that requires a change in the technology.  Those are 
the kinds of checks my office is currently performing.  They include, for example, what is the 
mechanism that will be applied to make that happen, how it is being tested and whether it will 
be tested sufficiently and appropriately to make sure it operates correctly every time.  Those 
are part of the checks my office conducts any time a lottery game is amended.  The other kinds 
of checks we have to conduct on this proposal include, for example, how the mechanism is 
described in the game rules.  First, what kind of a must-be-won feature will it be?  As some 
Deputies have outlined, different kinds of must-be-won features can be introduced.  What ex-
actly is the one the operator is proposing and how is it described in the game rules?  I have to 
be sure there are no unintended consequences in the future.  I want to make sure it is correctly 
and appropriately described in the game rules.  We also check for the impact on the risk of the 
game to players.
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Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Can Ms Boate advise the committee on whose initiative or 
by whose volition did it occur that a change would be made to make the major prize winnable?  
Did she approach the lottery operator directly or did the lottery approach her and when did that 
take place, if it took place?

Ms Carol Boate: As I mentioned in my opening statement, it is the role of the operator to 
design, operate and promote the games and to make proposals to me if it wishes to change the 
game and then I check if those proposals are in order.  It was the operator’s initiative to see if it 
could bring in a must-be-won feature.  It was first mentioned to me in early November that the 
operator was examining exactly what technology changes and tests might be required, includ-
ing how long it would take to perform all those tests, so that in the event that the lotto jackpot 
continued to roll over for an extended period, it could apply for such a facility to be brought 
in.  When the operator decided it did want to bring this in, the actual application came in on the 
evening of 7 December. 

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Members of the public have raised the issue of whether the 
technology surrounding the national lottery could be interfered with externally or hacked.  If 
that is so, what prevention measures have been taken?  For example, if the HSE was hacked, 
it is quite possible that somebody somewhere would attempt to do so with the national lottery, 
which has a rolling prize of €20 million or thereabouts and several other prizes.  Will Ms Boate 
tell me, if she can, the methodology used to prevent that?  Some methods may be electronic and 
some may be technical.

Ms Carol Boate: Cybersecurity has been a top concern for all major businesses over the 
past ten years.  Towards the end of last year, I sent in expert independent IT consultants from 
the firm Grant Thornton to conduct a review of the quality and capacity of the operator’s IT 
systems, specifically including its cybersecurity preparedness.  I received that report earlier this 
year.  Based on its findings and other evidence and information available to me - I get regular 
reports about aspects of its systems - I am confident that the operator is taking all the appropri-
ate steps to protect the national lottery from cybersecurity attacks.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: When did Ms Boate get that report?

Ms Carol Boate: The end of quarter 1 of this year, which was around March.  The fieldwork 
was conducted in the last quarter of 2020.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Has the regulator ever made inquiries as to the amount roll-
ing around in unclaimed prizes that seems to fall into the promotion of the lottery, which is a 
self-serving exercise, to encourage people to play more, spend more and, for want of a better 
description, invest more in the lottery?

Ms Carol Boate: I have an active role regarding that element of the licence.  The licence 
requires that expired unclaimed prizes are given to the operator, in the first instance, to spend 
on promoting the national lottery.  At least once a year, I get a report on how much money has 
expired in unclaimed prizes and how much money the operator has spent on marketing and 
promoting the national lottery.  I am able to compare those, in addition to other reports going on 
in the background, to ensure and check that the money is being correctly spent in accordance 
with the terms of the licence.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Is Ms Boate happy with that?

Ms Carol Boate: I am happy that everything I have seen suggests that the operator is fully 
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compliant with the terms of the licence.  It is not unusual for a budget to be created for the 
operator in the design of a licence.  I noted some earlier comments about the UK model and I 
have looked into this previously.  In the UK model, expired prizes go to good causes.  However, 
money is also regularly taken out of good causes and given to the operator to promote the na-
tional lottery, which I believe is of a similar order to the design of our licence model.  It is not 
an uncommon feature of lottery licences.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Is it not the case that the amount in unclaimed prizes is very 
substantial and is consistently so year after year?  Does how that money might be used in the 
promotion of the lottery not cause some concern?  It might be used to encourage more people 
to spend on the lottery, while at the same time it could be used as a means of preventing people 
from winning because of the particular system that now operates.

Ms Carol Boate: I do not understand how advertising could be used to prevent people win-
ning.  The idea is that it is used to promote the national lottery, keep it front of mind and keep 
people informed of the latest jackpot and latest gains so that they will purchase national lottery 
tickets.  I do not understand how it could have-----

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: For example, if money is used in market research and devel-
opment, could some of that €17 million or €20 million, or whatever it is in unclaimed prizes, 
which is a significant amount, also be used to determine ways and means to ensure that there 
are less winners or less possibility of winning?  It goes back again to my texter.  He is obviously 
suspicious that there is a machine somewhere that predetermines what happens.  Is Ms Boate 
satisfied that is not the case?

Ms Carol Boate: I am very satisfied that it is not the case that games are predetermining 
how often they are won.  Going back to the example of the lotto draw, we still use ball machines 
for that.  It is a physical draw that takes place on live television.  Everybody can see the balls 
that are drawn and the winning combination.  Everybody who has purchased a ticket has a copy 
of it.  It is very transparent.  We do not use random number generators such as those used in 
other jurisdictions.  Again, we use the ball machines for daily million, EuroMillions plus and 
other games that are similar but not broadcast on television.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I have a final question.  Who has access?  Who are the custo-
dians of that technology or mechanisms that are used to determine, by the ball system or what-
ever it is, who the winners are?  Who has access to that?  Where is it stored?  Can people bring 
it home with them at night, for instance, when they are working from home or whatever the case 
may be?  Will Ms Boate shed some light on that?  I thank her for her replies to the questions.

Ms Carol Boate: I thank the Deputy.  The technology that runs the national lottery is a web 
of hardware and software processes and procedures.  The core gaming system is one designed 
to record all the tickets sold and all the prizes won to be paid out.  That came from an interna-
tional company that specialises in these types of systems, of which there are only a few in the 
world.  That is held by the national lottery and only certain staff members are allowed access to 
it.  They certainly could not bring it home.

Perhaps one of the useful things to understand is that a separate independent verification 
system is being operated at the same time to also record all the tickets that are being sold for the 
draw.  It is operated by a separate independent team and the draw is only allowed to take place 
if those two systems match.
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Deputy  Neale Richmond: I thank the regulator for her opening statement and replies to 
Deputy Durkan.  I will pick up on her initial replies to him.  She said, in line with what the pre-
vious witness said, that PLI had mentioned in early November the prospect of a must-win draw, 
which it subsequently requested on 7 December, eight days or - correct me if I am wrong - two 
draws ago.  Had it ever mentioned it before then?

Ms Carol Boate: My recollection is that the first time PLI suggested to me that it was con-
sidering bringing in a must-be-won draw to bring this rollover to a close was early November.  
I checked my records and that is my earliest recollection of it being mentioned to me.

Deputy Neale Richmond: In the very recent history of PLI being the operator, has there 
even a discussion of a must-be-won draw?  Is this something that has been invented to address a 
growing concern highlighted, as I mentioned, by Deputy Durkan, or is this common practice in 
other games across the world?  Would this be happening if very serious attention was not being 
given to it, by this committee and others?

Ms Carol Boate: The proposal before me now is to address the current circumstances.  
That is what PLI has stated in its proposal.  In general, I am afraid my hands are rather tied in 
discussing the general commercial plans and considerations of the operator.  It has many ideas 
and things in the pipeline.

Deputy Neale Richmond: The regulator oversees the Irish lottery but we can compare it to 
the UK, European and a dozen different American models.  Quite simply, is a must-win draw a 
regular occurrence or common practice in this type of gaming?

Ms Carol Boate: Yes.  From the little that I know about lotteries in other jurisdictions, 
must-be-won features are definitely not uncommon.  I have approved it in EuroMillions pre-
viously.  I believe it has always been a feature of EuroMillions, although I am not quite sure.  
Other lotteries do not have them at all.  In the UK example presented earlier, the money rolls 
down every five draws.  That is quite-----

Deputy  Neale Richmond: That has never happened in Ireland before.

Ms Carol Boate: To the best of my knowledge, the lotto has never had it.  There are other 
examples.  The lottery in Italy does not have it.  The main game in the lotto there rolled on for 
more than a year and was only won in October 2019 despite operating three times a week.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: Did Premier Lotteries Ireland ever discuss increases in the num-
ber of balls or the general issue of rollovers before?

Ms Carol Boate: I would prefer not to discuss any commercial plans PLI may or may not 
have but with regard to-----

Deputy  Neale Richmond: These are not commercial plans but contingency plans.  What I 
am referring to is a matter of public interest.

Ms Carol Boate: Is the Deputy asking whether, in respect of the current rollover, PLI ever 
discussed-----

Deputy  Neale Richmond: Yes, there is currently a rollover but, as Ms Boate mentioned, 
there was a rollover in Italy for more than a year.  When considering the risks involved in a 
game in this nature, I would hope that someone regularly thinks about these matters and dis-
cusses them with the regulator.
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Ms Carol Boate: It is a known risk that this can happen.  It was also a known risk under the 
previous game.  When the lotto involved matching six numbers from 45, this also could have 
happened.  It would have been highly unlikely, but it is also highly unlikely for it to happen 
under this framework.  We are talking about degrees of how highly unlikely it is.  I do not know 
why consideration was not given to including some kind of “must be won” feature in the event 
this highly unusual situation arose but I do know that this was never proposed to my office and 
approved.  When the game was redesigned in 2015, this did not form part of the proposal.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: By their nature, games of chance all bear a high degree of un-
usualness.  Moving on, when was the independent observer appointed?

Ms Carol Boate: Is the Deputy referring to KPMG, which-----

Deputy  Neale Richmond: Yes.

Ms Carol Boate: I am afraid to get the answer wrong but, from my recollection of our list 
of approvals, it was early on in the licence period, perhaps in 2015 or 2016.  Whenever the last 
contract came to an end there would have been a new contract for an independent observer.  It 
was early on in the licence period, around that time.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: Going back to previous contracts, has there ever been any other 
independent observer?

Ms Carol Boate: I am afraid I do not know.  I only know what was approved under this 
licence.  KPMG-----

Deputy  Neale Richmond: From my childhood recollection, it seems to have always been 
KPMG.  Indeed, I always remember the very pleasant gentleman who used to nod at the start of 
the draw.  When we talk about the independent observer, which is consistently the same com-
pany, I wonder what the application or tender process for that very important role is.

Ms Carol Boate: The operator runs the tender process for that important role.  I then have 
a role in approving that appointment.  All key contractors, such as KPMG, the gaming system 
provider and the cleaners who clean the room where the machines are kept, are subject to ap-
proval with regard to their fitness and probity.  I also must ensure there has been a proper tender 
process.  We check that an appropriate tender process has been run for contracts of this nature.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: How much is the contract worth?

Ms Carol Boate: I do not know off the top of my head and, even if I did, I imagine I would 
not be allowed to reveal that information.

Chairman: I remind Deputy Richmond that we are obliged to finish at 5 p.m. sharp.

Deputy  Neale Richmond: I will hand over to Deputy Mairéad Farrell.  I thank the regula-
tor very much.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I ask the Chair exactly how many minutes I have because he will 
want to contribute as well.  I will be as quick and brief as possible.

Chairman: I will forgo speaking but I have to finish at 5 p.m. on the dot.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: That is perfect.  I will make sure to keep the questions as quick 
and easy as possible.  Perhaps the answers could be as well, if that is okay.  I missed some of the 
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debate because I had to pop out for another meeting.  Why does this State differ from other ju-
risdictions with regard to regulatory oversight?  Why does responsibility for the national lottery 
remain with a regulatory body and Government Department separate from those responsible for 
Paddy Power and so on?  What is the reasoning behind that?  If we look at other jurisdictions 
such as Britain, Sweden and France, we see that one independent regulator oversees the whole 
gambling sector, including national lotteries.  Will Ms Boate comment briefly on that?

Ms Carol Boate: My office was established in 2014 and was necessary for the licence to be 
awarded.  It was part of the awarding of the licence that there would be an independent regula-
tor who would approve games and so on as opposed to the Minister doing so, which was the 
previous system.  There was a necessity for a regulator at that time.  As to whether we would 
ever be merged with a gambling regulator, that is a matter for government.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: Gabhaim buíochas as sin.  I have a question arising from a ques-
tion Deputy Tóibín asked in the previous session.  I took a quick look at the audited financial 
statements of Premier Lotteries Ireland.  It was a brief look so I am open to correction if I have 
got this wrong but, from what I can see, PLI paid no tax in 2019.  It actually got a refund of 
€100,000.  It paid tax in 2020.  I note from its financial statements that the shareholders of 
PLI have given it significant loans.  Note 19 in the financial statements says that non-current 
liabilities, which total approximately €250 million “represent the balances repayable to the 
Company’s shareholders [...] which are repayable by 2034 and bear interest at a rate of 9%.”  
Obviously, we know that interest rates are extremely low at the moment.  This is a very high 
rate of interest for a company such as Premier Lotteries Ireland to charge.  It is above market 
rates.  Why would shareholders charge a company that they own such a high rate of interest?  
Is Ms Boate concerned that such interest rate payments may be reducing the money that is due 
to the taxpayer?

Ms Carol Boate: The arrangements the Deputy has just described are corporate arrange-
ments of PLI and fall outside my remit.  We keep an eye on them to make sure there is no ques-
tion that the company is not complying with the laws of the land and that there are no questions 
around its solvency but, as no questions of that nature arise, those are really private matters for 
the company.  My job is to make sure that the amount of money being returned to good causes 
is correct.

Deputy  Mairéad Farrell: I thank Ms Boate.  It just seems unusual for a company that is 
profitable.  I understand that this does not fall within the regulator’s brief.  We are under time 
pressure so I will move on.  In respect of the distribution of funds to good causes, the regulator 
is concerned with proper administration.  An issue that has been raised with me is that, under 
the model in England, an entirely independent body administers the funding to good causes 
while, under the Irish system, the decision lies with the Minister.  I would like to look at how 
the funding is allocated.  It has also been raised with me that successive Ministers responsible 
for the environment and national heritage have failed to request funding given that it would 
impact on the discretion of their colleagues to benefit causes in the constituencies.  The natural 
environment was added as a beneficiary under the Act in 2013 but it has not benefited since.  
Does the regulator have any comment on transparency in that regard?  It is something that has 
been raised with me and it is an interesting point.

Chairman: The Deputy will have to conclude on that.

Ms Carol Boate: My role is to make sure that the amount of money coming from national 
lottery ticket sales that is due to good causes is correctly accounted for.  We transfer that money 
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to the Exchequer.  I am afraid that what happens afterwards is not within my remit.  However, I 
know the Minister is aware and concerned that there could be more transparency with regard to 
how one accesses national lottery funding and where it goes.  He has commissioned Indecon to 
prepare a report for him on that issue.  I believe that report is due in the new year.  Perhaps that 
will shed more light on the issue for the Deputy.

Chairman: I thank the witnesses and members for attending today.  We appreciate their 
contribution.  I bring the attention of members to the private meeting to be held at 5.15 p.m. 
because of the lateness of this meeting.

The joint committee adjourned at 4.59 p.m. until 1.30 p.m. on Thursday, 16 December 2021.


